




His Highness Sheikh Khalifa Bin Zayed Bin Sultan Al Nahyan
President of United Arab Emirates

His Majesty Sultan Qaboos Bin Said
Sultan of Oman - May Allah rest his Soul in Peace

His Majesty Sultan Haitham Bin Tariq
Sultan of Oman

His Majesty Sultan Qaboos Bin Said
Sultan of Oman - May Allah rest his Soul in Peace





   Page

 Board of Directors 3

 Executive Management  5 

 Board of Directors' Report 6 

 Corporate Governance Report 11 

 Management Discussion and Analysis Report 22

 Investments Overview 

  A)  Subsidiaries 33

  B)  Associates  35

  C)  Other Investments 37

 New Investments in Projects 43

 Financial Statements

 •  Auditors’ Report 44

 •  Statement of Financial Position 48

 •  Statement of Profit or Loss 49

 •  Statement of Comprehensive Income  50

 •  Statement of Changes in Equity 51

 •  Statement of Cash Flows 53

 •  Notes to the Financial Statements 54

Head Office: P.O. Box 2205, Ruwi, Postal Code 112, Sultanate of Oman
  Tel:  (968) 24036800, 24036801

U.A.E. Office: P.O. Box 30636, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
  Tel:  (971) 26266443

CONTENTS





3

Mr. Khalid Abdullah Al Eisri

Former Vice Chairman

Mr. Mohamed Darwish Al Khoori

Chairman

Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi

Vice Chairman

Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri 

Director

Mr. Mohammad Abdullah Al Khonji

Director

Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Al Neyadi 

Director

Nomination, Remuneration and Executive 
Committee
Mr. Mohammad Abdullah Al Khonji    Chairman

Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Al Neyadi  Member

Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi  Member

Audit Committee

Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri Chairman

Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi Member

Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Al Neyadi Member

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

INTERNAL AUDITOR

Shah Abbas Jaffer Rizvi

Former Internal Auditor / Audit Committee Secretary (until 30.6.2020)

Internal Audit function was outsourced to BDO starting from 1 July 2020 until 31 December 2020





5

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT  

Mr. Kannan Kumaraswamy

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Raffy Kozadjian

Acting CEO / Projects Manager

Dr. Saeed Bin Hilal Al Kharousi

Manager Administration & IT



6

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT - 2020

Honorable Shareholders, 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Oman & Emirates Investment Holding 
Company (O&E), I present the Annual Report for 2020 containing the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31st December 2020. An overview is provided below on 
the macroeconomic and business environment the Company faced during the year, the 
setbacks encountered, the mitigating actions taken, the overall financial performance and 
mid-term strategy going forward. 

Business environment in retrospect (Oman & UAE) 

Like other oil-exporting countries, Oman was hit hardest by the double-impact of the 
pandemic and the resulting sharp decline in oil demand and prices. Several sectors saw 
declines in revenues, profitability dropped and leverage increased exposing these to high 
liquidity and solvency risks with deteriorated debt servicing ability. The inevitable public 
health response to the pandemic has come at a steep economic cost resulting in real GDP 
decline in Oman and the Region in 2020. 

The business environment was most challenging, difficult, unclear and affected the 
stability of financial markets which remained subdued with tight liquidity, strained cash 
flows that triggered loan delinquencies. Debt rollover and refinancing risks have risen 
and the banks tightened their credit policies apart from increasing the interest rates. 

During 2020, all three-indexes declined: MSM Index declined by (-8.10%), ADX by 
(-0.60%) and DFM by (-9.87%). This was in some contrast with 2019 when the MSM Index 
declined by (-8.55%) while ADX and DFM increased by 3.59% and 9.49% respectively. 
With about 90% of the Company’s portfolio in Oman, the negative performance of the 
stock market impacted on the overall investment valuations of the Company.

Financial Strategy during 2020

The above factors caused fluctuations in the market which affected valuations of O&E’s 
investments. This led banks calling in to increase the security levels given against 
borrowings or make repayments to reduce loans availed at a time of liquidity crunch 
in the markets where assets could not be sold without causing drastic change in assets’ 
pricing. Amidst the lockdown during the second quarter, to mitigate the combined effect 
of both higher business risk, resulting from continuing Covid-19 impact on markets, 
and higher financial risk, resulting from rising interest rates, the Board reconsidered 
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the Company’s strategy for the short to medium term and set plans to mitigate financial 
risks. The objective was to generate liquidity, reduce borrowings and settle forthcoming 
government soft loan repayment commitments and, later, reinvest in regular income 
stream generating assets. However, loss of value was unavoidable as the impact of 
pandemic weighed on markets and assets earmarked for sale could not be sold swiftly 
amidst a deteriorating business environment. The Board’s focus on restructuring and 
massive cost reduction undertaken during the previous year proved to be opportune in 
protecting the Company’s financial health during such times of economic difficulties.

Financial performance 

The results of the Company’s investments are outlined in greater detail in the body of this 
Annual Report. A snapshot of the Group’s financial statements for 2020 consolidating 
the results of the Parent Company, its Subsidiaries and Associates reflects the above 
economic factors. The performance highlights during 2020 are summarized herewith: 

• The Group recorded a Net Loss of RO (1,646,626) during 2020 as against a Net 
Profit of RO 292,032 (Restated) achieved during 2019. The Parent recorded a 
Net Loss of RO (1,335,357) during 2020 as against a Net Profit of RO 562,224 
(Restated) achieved during 2019.

• The Shareholders Equity decreased to RO 19.551 Million as at 31.12.2020 from 
RO 21.197 Million as at 31.12.2019, against a Share Capital of RO 12,187,500, 
registering a decrease in equity by (-7.8%).

• The aggregate value of the investments of the Group decreased to RO 43.771 
Million as at 31.12.2020 from RO 46.842 Million as at 31.12.2019. 

• The overall financial balance of the Company was preserved, despite the prevailing 
challenging environment. 

Results of the Group at a glance

The following table provides the Company’s financial development snapshot over the 
past five years: 

 RO in Million

Particulars 2016
(Re- 

stated)

2017 2018
(Re- 

stated)

2019
(Re- 

stated)

2020

Equity Share Capital 12.187 12.187 12.187 12.187 12.187
Net Equity 21.050 19.585 20.905 21.197 19.551
Investments 46.034 49.919 49.807 46.842 43.771
Net  Profit / (Loss) 2.834 (1.746) 0.019 0.292 (1.647)
Book value per share – RO 0.173 0.161 0.172 0.174 0.160
Earnings per share – RO 0.023 (0.014) 0.0002 0.0024 (0.014)
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Dividend

Article 131 of the New Commercial Companies Laws prescribes dividends can only be 
distributed out of net profits after transfer to mandatory reserves and deducting taxes. No 
dividend can be proposed for the year 2020.

Fraud case

The Company was victim of a fraud perpetrated through forgery and theft by an 
accountant working on secondment basis from a consultancy firm. The theft was 
executed through forged cheques and theft and misuse of Company credit card. The 
cheques were deliberately timed and encashed during the period of lull surrounding the 
Eid holidays.  A case was filed with the Financial Crimes Unit of the Royal Oman Police 
and the Public Prosecution. Apprehension of the perpetrator who has absconded from the 
Country will be launched imminently in his country. 

Head Office building

With a substantial overhang in lettable office space in the market and deteriorated 
economic landscape, the real estate market experienced downward pressure in terms 
of both demand and achievable rental values.  Floors in the Head Office building are 
occupied by reputed tenants on long-term tenancy agreements and efforts continue to 
market the vacant units. Despite the current setback, this investment will eventually 
generate a sustained rental income stream.

Proposed investment in a Hospital Project

 The project is envisaged as a 70-bed high-end hospital promoted in partnership with a 
leading medical group in Spain. As Founder Promoters, the Company and its Spanish 
partners are committed to hold 20% and 15% respectively in the project company and the 
balance share capital has been fully booked by institutional investors in Oman. Having 
concluded the matter of land and Constitutive Documents ready for execution, the 
conversion of the project company from limited liability to a closed joint stock company 
was planned during second quarter of the year had it not been for the pandemic and its 
impact on all parties involved. Depending on circumstances, soft activities will continue 
but no major investment has been budgeted during the year until resumption of normality 
in the business environment.  

 Investment in an Assisted Reproduction Clinic

 Investment in this first Assisted Reproduction and Genetic Unit with Spanish partners 
was imminent during the first quarter of the year with the opening of the project company 
bank account. The Spanish partners are leaders and specialists in this business offering 
diagnosis and treatment of infertility services with cutting-edge technology. The clinic 
is planned on the ground floor of the Company’s Head Office building. Fit out plans are 
ready but implementation was suspended as a result of the pandemic. 
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 Corporate Governance

Pursuant to an Administrative Decision by the Capital Market Authority, during an 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 6th July 2020, the Company replaced its current 
Articles of Association with the new template form of Articles of Association for public 
companies set out in the Decision. The Model Articles, which now comprise eight articles 
that are limited to very high-level company information, avoid duplicating the provisions 
of the new Commercial Companies Law and other laws. Complying with a requirement 
to change the number of directors to comprise an odd number in alignment with the 
Commercial Companies Law, the Company reduced its Board to only five members who 
will all be henceforth elected during the Company’s Annual General Meeting.

Management continues to uphold the sound corporate culture established in the Company 
as manifested by shared values and transparent governing policies. Our Company’s 
governance system has been fully integrated with ethical business practices, which meet 
the high standards expected by the Authorities. 

Internal control systems and their adequacy

An internal audit system is in place to monitor strict adherence to compliance of the 
procedures and operating systems. As a result of the extraordinary fraud case described 
above, the Company instated more stringent internal controls to assist in preventing 
and detecting fraud encompassing enhanced system of checks and balances, protection 
of cheques against fraudulent use, more frequent reconciliation of bank accounts, 
restrictions on credit card usage and other controls. 

Future outlook

The World Bank anticipates Oman’s economy to make a positive recovery over the next 
two years, partly crediting this positive outlook to the recently non-associated natural 
gas discovered in central Oman and the resulting partnerships formed with international 
energy firms. This is expected to potentially fuel new investments. Some growth 
boosting reforms to support the economy are also being put in place for the medium 
to long term horizon through rolling out of a medium-term adjustment program by the 
Government which includes accelerating the initiatives outlined in the National Program 
for Fiscal Balance. 

With the global roll out of vaccination programs, countries already setting plans to end 
lockdowns and rising oil prices, GCC economies are expected to recover heralding a 
more optimistic outlook in markets. 

The Company has set course and will pursue its current financial strategy during the year. 
The business environment and the Government’s economic road map to recovery will be 
monitored closely for any opportunity to reshuffle the investment portfolio to generate 
improved liquidity. 
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People

On behalf of the Board, I appreciate the dedication and the efforts made by the 
Executive Management and all employees of the Company during these difficult times 
of uncertainty.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT - 2020

1. Company’s Philosophy on Code of Corporate Governance

1.1 The Management of Oman & Emirates Investment Holding Co SAOG (O&E) believes that setting 
the highest standards of Corporate Governance, as envisioned by Capital Market Authority (CMA) in 
the Code of Corporate Governance (Code) is not a matter of mere compliance but a useful mechanism 
to restructure the core corporate values. The implementation of the above is yet another important 
milestone for achieving an efficient, impartial and ethical system of functioning at the top Management 
keeping in view the overall interests of the Shareholders. 

1.2 The mandatory disclosure requirement as spelt out in the Code not only enhances the degree of 
transparency in sharing of information with the stakeholders but also reinforces the broader role the 
Directors need to play for achieving corporate objectives amidst challenges and adversities. O&E’s 
governance system has been fully integrated with ethical business practices and sound corporate culture 
manifested in values and transparent and impartial governing policies on continuous basis.

1.3 This report is prepared by the Management of O&E under overall guidance of the Code issued by the 
CMA under their Circular No. E/4/2015 dated 22 July 2015 and amended by Circular E/10/2016, dated 
1 December 2016.

2.  Board of Directors

2.1 Composition of the Board

 The Board comprises 5 members pursuant to Article No. 7 of the Articles of Association of the Company 
amended during an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 6th July 2020 pursuant to an Administrative 
Decision by the CMA. Prior to 6th July 2020, the Board consisted of 6 members in accordance with 
Article No. 22. of the Company’s previous Articles of Association. 

 The composition of the Board is as under:

Nominated directly by: No. of Members

The Government of Sultanate of Oman 1 Nos.

The Government of UAE 2 Nos.

Elected at Annual General meeting of the Company No. of Members

From Oman 1 No.

From UAE 1 No.

                                     Total 5 Nos
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2.2 Functions of the Board of Directors

a) The Board of Directors, who at the helm of affairs of the Company, manages and supervises the 

business activities and extends strategic guidance to the operating management in realizing the 

mission of the Company. The day-to-day management is delegated to a Chief Executive Officer 

by the Board, who further carries out the assigned duties through a team of Executives, who are 

heading the various functions of the Company.

b) The Board’s duties and responsibilities encompass wide variety of functions of managing the 

affairs of the Company, and more specifically those as detailed under Principle 3 of the Code. A 

summary of the same is given as under:

(1) Approval of business plan, financial objectives, financial policies, investment strategies, 

action plans, internal regulations and implementation guidelines. 

(2) Review of the operational and financial performance of the Company and also the performance 

of the Company’s trading and other investments at periodic intervals. 

(3) Overview of the performance of Subsidiaries, Associates and project companies and their 

financial requirements and obligations and deciding on extending the required level of 

support, if required. 

(4) Approval of financial statements and other reports and submission to Shareholders and other 

authorities as prescribed by the laws of the Country. 

(5) Fixing up authority levels and delegation of power to the Executive Management. 

(6) Implementation of a transparent disclosure policy, including all transactions with Directors 

and the Related Parties and monitor its compliance. 

(7) Reviewing material transactions with the Related Party, which are not in the ordinary course 

of business prior to these being brought before the General Meeting of the Company.

(8) Ensure compliance with the laws of the Country through proper internal control systems.

(9) Nomination of Executive, Audit and other committees, specifying their roles, responsibilities 

and powers.

(10) Selection of Chief Executive Officer and key Management positions.

(11) All other matters specifically not delegated to the committees and Executive Management.  
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2.3 Current Directors as at 31.12.2020

 Details of the Directors of the Company holding office as at 31st December 2020, their membership on 
the board of other public joint stock companies in Sultanate of Oman and their attendance at various 
meetings of the Company during 2020 are stated below: 

1. Mr. Mohamed Darwish Al Khoori
 Chairman

 Executive Director, Operations Department, 
Abu Dhabi Investment Authority, UAE

• Nominated by Government of UAE
• Non-Executive/ Non-Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - 1
• Member of other Boards – 1
• Member of other Board Committees - Nil
• Attended all 5 Board meetings held during 

the year
• Attended AGM
• Attended EGM

2. Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi
     Vice Chairman

 Director of Government Properties, 
Ministry of Finance, Oman

• Nominated by Government of Oman 
• Non-Executive/ Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - Nil
• Member of other Boards – 2
• Member of other Board Committees - 2 
• Attended all 5 Board meetings held during 

the year.
• Attended AGM
• Attended EGM

3. Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri  
 Chief Development Officer,

International Capital Trading, UAE

• Representing Public Shareholders of UAE 
• Non-Executive/ Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - Nil
• Member of other Boards – Nil
• Member of other Board Committees – Nil
• Attended all 5 Board meetings held during 

the year
• Attended AGM 
• Attended EGM

4. Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Al Neyadi 
 Investment Associate,

Abu Dhabi Investment Authority, UAE

• Nominated by Government of UAE
• Non-Executive / Non-Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - 1
• Member of other Boards - 1
• Member of other Board Committees - 1
• Attended all 5 Board meetings held during 

the year
• Attended EGM 

5. Mr. Mohammad Al Khonji
 Chairman/ Chief Executive Officer, 

Al Khonji Real Estate & Development LLC, 
Oman  

• Representing Public Shareholders of Oman 
• Non-Executive/Non-Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - 1
• Member of other Boards – 3
• Member of other Board Committees - 3
• Attended all 5 Board meetings held during 

the year
• Attended AGM
• Attended EGM
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2.4 Past Directors during 2020 

 Details of the Directors of the company who were holding office during part of 2020, their membership  
on the board of other public joint stock companies in Sultanate of Oman and their attendance at various 
meetings of the Company during 2020 are stated as under: 

1.  Mr. Khalid Al Eisri
 Vice Chairman

 Principal, Oman Investment Fund, Oman

• Nominated by Government of Oman 
• Non-Executive/ Independent Director
• Chairman of other Boards - Nil
• Member of other Boards – 2
• Member of other Board Committees – Nil 
• Attended 2 out of 5 Board meetings held 

during the year
• Attended AGM
• Attended EGM
• Resigned as Vice Chairman and Director on 

6 July 2020

2.5 Number of meetings held and dates of the meetings

Type No. Dates

Board meetings 5
05.03.2020, 04.06.2020, 09.08.2020, 05.11.2020 
and 23.12.2020

Annual General Meeting 1 21.05.2020
Extraordinary General Meeting 1 06.07.2020

3. Audit and other committees
3.1 Audit Committee (AC)

a) Terms of reference

 Audit Committee has been set up pursuant to Principle 10 of the Code. Below is a summary of its 
responsibilities:

(1) Oversight of the quality and integrity of the financial statements.

(2) Review of the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. 

(3) Short listing of the external and internal auditors of the Company. 

(4) Reviewing the annual plan and performance of the Company’s internal audit function (in 
house/ outsourced) and its adequacy, and also the reports of the external auditors.

(5) Monitoring various Management reports, establishing accounting controls and reviewing the 
financial aspects of the Executive Management’s activities. 

(6) Investigating any activity within the Company.

(7) Seeking information from any employee.

(8) Obtaining legal and professional advice.

(9) Securing attendance of outsiders and experts as and when required.

(10) Any other specific matter assigned by the Board. 
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b) Composition of the Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee comprises 3 Directors of the Company including one with finance and 
accounting expertise. All members of the Audit Committee are non-executive and two are independent. 
The attendance of the members at the Audit Committee meetings held during 2020 is as follows:  

  Current Members as at 31.12.2020

Names of members
Period No. of 

meetings 
held

No. of 
meetings 
attendedFrom To

Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri*  
Chairman of the Committee

Full year 4 4

Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi 12.07.2020 Till date 4 2
Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Alneyadi Full year 4 4

 *Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri has finance and accounting background.

c)  Past Members during 2020

Names of members
Period No. of 

meetings 
held

No. of 
meetings 
attendedFrom To

Mr Khalid Al Eisri * 24.04.2019 06.07.2020 4 2

 *Mr. Khalid Al Eisri was a member of the Audit Committee from 24.04.2019 till his resignation on 
06.07.2020. 

  d) Meetings of Audit Committee held during the year

Type No Dates
Audit Committee meetings 4 05.03.2020, 04.06.2020, 06.08.2020 and 04.11.2020

e) Internal Control

(1) The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board has regularly reviewed the internal control 
environment of the Company. Audit Committee members have met the Internal Auditor 
on a regular basis to review the internal audit reports, recommendations and Management 
comments thereupon.

(2) The Internal Audit function was outsourced to BDO for the period from 1 July 2020 to 31 
December 2020 with the permission of the CMA. Accordingly, the previous in-house Internal 
Auditor carried out the internal audit functions of the Company up to 30th June 2020, while 
the remainder period was covered by BDO.  

(3) Audit Committee members have also met the External Auditors to review audit findings and 
Management letter. The Audit Committee has met the Internal Auditor and External Auditor 
separately, without the presence of the Management, as required under the Code of Corporate 
Governance. The Audit Committee has further briefed the Board about the effectiveness of 
internal controls in the Company. The Audit Committee and the Board are pleased to inform 
the Shareholders that adequate and effective internal controls are in place and that there are 
no significant concerns.
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3.2 Nomination, Remuneration and Executive Committee (NREC)

a) Terms of reference

(1) Assist and advise the Board on matters relating to the remuneration of the Board.

(2) Assist the Board in evaluation of performance and determining remuneration Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive Management.

(3) Assisting on nomination of Directors, appointment of Chief Executive Officer and senior 
Executive Management

(4) Review the Company’s performance on a regular basis.

(5) Formulate the strategic objectives in line with the Company’s mission. 

(6) Establish operating policies on functional activities of the Company – project and portfolio 
investments, finance & accounting, personnel and administration, etc. 

(7) Ensure that the Company is functioning in accordance with the Articles of Association and 
meeting all legal requirements. 

(8) Carry out any other activity as and when assigned by the Board of Directors.

b) Composition of the Nomination Remuneration and Executive Committee and attendance of 
members at the meetings

 The Nomination Remuneration and Executive Committee comprises 3 non-executive Director 
as at 31 December 2020. The attendance of the members of the Nomination Remuneration and 
Executive Committee meetings held during 2020 is as follows:

 Members as at 31.12.2020 

Names of members Period
No. of 

meetings 
held

No. of 
meetings 
attended

Mr. Mohammad Al Khonji 
Chairman of the Committee

Full Year 2 2

Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Alneyadi Full Year 2 2
Mr. Saed Saif Al Saadi Full Year 2 2

c)  Meetings of Nomination and Remuneration Committee held during the year

Type No Dates
Nomination, Remuneration and 
Executive Committee meetings

2 04.03.2020 and 23.12.2020 

4. Process of nomination of Directors
4.1. Directors representing the Governments of Oman and the UAE (Founder Members category) are nominated 

by the respective Governments and their period of office is as determined by the respective Governments. 

4.2. The Directors representing public shareholders are elected by the Shareholders at Annual General 
Meeting. The members thus elected hold office for a period of 3 years.

4.3. All Directors are appointed as per the provision laid down in the Commercial Companies Law by the 
Capital Market Authority enacted at the date of appointment and in conjunction with the Articles of 
Association of the Company. 
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5. Remuneration matters

5.1 Details of remuneration to Directors

 The Company has not proposed any Director’s remuneration for 2020 (2019: RO Nil) and has paid 
sitting fees for the members of the Board and the Committees of RO 18,900 (2019: RO 20,000). Details 
of payments are as follows:

Director Name

Board 
meeting 

sitting fee 
RO

Audit 
Committee 
sitting fee 

RO

Nomination 
Remuneration 
& Executive 
Committee 

sitting fee RO
Total
RO

For Full Year
Mr. Mohamed Darwish Al Khoori – 
Chairman 2,500 - - 2,500
Mr. Saed Saif Nasir Al Saadi - 
Vice Chairman 2,500 600 600 3,700
Mr. Saeed Khamis Al Mheiri   2,500 1,200 - 3,700
Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdullah Alneyadi 2,500 1,200 600 4,300
Mr. Mohammad Al Khonji 2,500 - 600 3,100
For part of the year:
Mr Khalid Al Eisri 
(Director till 06.07.2020) 1,000 600 - 1,600
Total 13,500 3,600 1,800 18,900

5.2  Details of remuneration paid to top 5 officers 

(a) The remuneration package of the Executives is made up of a fixed and variable component. Fixed 
component includes salary, valued perquisites and retiral benefits. The variable component is 
performance-linked bonus, which is calculated based on pre-determined parameters of performance.

(b) During the year 2020 gross remuneration to the top 5 Executives including variable components 
(excluding bonus) was RO 246,255 (2019: RO 625,650). 

(c) No Bonus was given to the top 5 Executives of the Company (2019:Nil).

(d) Travel expenses incurred on Directors for attending the Board and its Committee meetings for 2020 
were RO 3,311 (2019: RO 10,166).

(e) Travel expenses incurred on top 5 Executives towards official duties for 2020 were RO 1,170 
(2019: RO 4,847).

5.3 Service contracts, notice period and severance fees

 The severance notice period for Chief Executive Officer is six months and for managerial executives it 
is three months, with end of service benefits payable as per Omani Labor Law. 

6. Details of non-compliance by the Company

 During the year no non-compliance to the rules and regulations set by Capital Market Authority was observed 
and the Company has not paid any fines or penalties for any violation (2020: Nil, 2019: Nil).
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7. Means of communication with the Shareholders and Investors

7.1 The quarterly results were published in local newspaper both in Arabic and in English. These financials 
were also posted on the website of Muscat Securities Market. In view of these publications, the results 
were not sent individually to the Shareholders. 

7.2 A separate Management Discussion and Analysis Report for the year 2020 forms part of the Annual 
Report.

8. Market price data

8.1 Market Price – High / Low Company’s share in each month on in MSM during the year 2020:

Month
RO

Highest Lowest
January 0.0650 0.0630
February 0.0590 0.0590
March 0.0480 0.0480
April 0.0460 0.0430
May 0.0470 0.0460
June 0.0450 0.0420
July 0.0390 0.0370
August 0.0490 0.0480
September 0.0460 0.0450
October 0.0430 0.0430
November 0.0440 0.0430
December 0.0440 0.0440

8.2 Performance in comparison to broad based index or MSM – Banks and Investment Sector
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 The share price of O&E decreased by 31% during 2020 against a decrease of 11% in Banking and 
Investment Index and a decrease of 8% in MSM General Index.
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8.3 Distribution of shareholding as of 31 December 2020

  Range No. of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shareholders

0 - 1,000 7,926 4,014,050 3.29%

1,001 - 5,000 8,925 14,649,381 12.02%

5,001 - 10,000 371 2,809,563 2.31%

10,001 - 50,000 320 7,054,227 5.79%

50,001 - 100,000 52 4,026,937 3.30%

Above 100,001 77 89,320,842 73.29%

Total 17,671 121,875,000 100.00%

8.4 Shareholders holding more than 5% of the Share Capital as of 31 December 2020

Abu Dhabi Investment Co, UAE 30% 36,562,500 Shares

Al Khonji Invest LLC and Group, Oman 20.31% 24,746,833 Shares

8.5 Outstanding GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any convertible instruments, conversion date and likely 
impact on equity

 The Company does not have any GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any other convertible warrants as of 31 
December 2020 and hence the likely impact on equity is Nil.

9. Specific areas of non-compliance with the provisions of Corporate Governance and reasons 

 During 2020, no non-compliance was observed with respect to the provisions of Corporate Governance.

10. Corporate social activities and future plans

 During 2020 the Company has contributed RO Nil (2019: RO Nil) as donations to various charitable 
organizations under its Corporate Social Responsibility program. An amount of RO 5,000 is budgeted 
towards social responsibilities in 2021. 

11. Related Party Transactions

  The transactions with the related parties are as defined in Principle 9 of the ‘Code’ and include certain normal 
contracts and transactions which are carried out in the ordinary course of business without any differential 
advantage accruing to the related party. These also include transactions such as granting of loans, guarantees, 
capital injections or transactions of similar nature, being extended in the capacity of a Parent Company or 
as a long-term investor to its Subsidiaries or Associates or other investee companies. Shareholders’ approval 
is taken for these prospective transactions in a year at the Annual General Meeting on general basis; but the 
exact nature of transactions, with monetary value, in a financial year is notified to the Shareholders and post-
facto approval is taken at the next Annual General Meeting.
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12. Profe ssional Profile of the Statutory Auditor

12.1 The Shareholders of the Company appointed Abu Timam Grant Thornton as its auditors for 2020. Grant 
Thornton is a network of independent assurance, tax and advisory firms made up of over 50,000 people 
in more than 130 countries, helping dynamic organizations unlock their potential for growth. It is one 
of the top six international accounting and business advisory networks and all its member firms are 
required to uphold the highest professional and ethical standards. The compliance with these standards 
is monitored and assured through a very strict quality assurance process.

12.2 Abu Timam, the Oman member firm of Grant Thornton International, is headquartered in Muscat with a 
branch in Salalah. The Muscat office was established in 1995 and is one of the leading firms in Oman, 
evidenced by the portfolio of clients that includes well-established companies across a broad spectrum of 
industries.  The professional staff bring a strong background of experience and expertise to their clients’ 
accounting, tax and management consulting needs. This rare combination of skilled resources and personal 
commitment explains why Abu Timam Grant Thornton has grown rapidly to a position of prominence 
among major accounting firms in the Sultanate of Oman.  Abu Timam Grant Thornton is approved by the 
Capital Market Authority as one of the audit firms allowed to audit joint stock companies.

12.3 Grant Thornton was paid a total fee of RO 17,500 (2019: Grant Thornton – RO 17,000) [for audit and 
review of Corporate Governance Report for the year 2020 – RO 8,125 (2019: RO 7,625)] for review of 
quarterly accounts during 2020 – RO 9,375 (2019: RO 9,375). This fee is related to the Parent Company 
only and not of the Subsidiaries in Oman.

12.4 Other tax related professional services were rendered by Ernst & Young for 2020 – RO 1,310 (2019 – 
RO 1,210). 

13. Acknowledgement by the Board of Directors

13.1 The Board of Directors confirms that the financial statements for 2020 have been prepared in accordance 
with the applicable standards and rules.

13.2 The Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the Company’s system of internal 
controls and confirms that all controls are in place and fully effective.

13.3 The Board of Directors confirms their belief that there are no material matters which may affect the 
continuation of the Company and its ability to continue its operations during the next financial year.

Mohamed Darwish Al Khoori      Raffy Manoug Kozadjian
Chairman       Acting Chief Executive Officer
10th March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT – 2020

1. Business environment in retrospect (2020)

 1.1 Global

 At the start of 2020, the global growth was expected to improve during the 
year and beyond with continued policy support in the large economies; but the 
worldwide outbreak of Covid-19 coupled with subsequent economic lockdown and 
heightened uncertainty derailed global recovery. The world economy witnessed a 
recession reminiscent of 2009. The large advanced economies responded with 
fiscal and monetary measures to address the health crisis and contain its impact 
on the economy. Also, with the G20 committed to restore global growth and 
maintain market stability, major countries have been injecting massively into the 
global economy as part of several targeted measures to counteract the impacts 
of the pandemic. In view of such coordinated policy response, global economy 
could recover with a sizable rebound in 2021, unless liquidity problems turn into 
solvency issues leading to bankruptcies. 

1.2 Sultanate of Oman

 Like other oil-exporting countries, Oman was hit hardest by the double-impact of 
the pandemic and the resulting sharp decline in oil demand and prices. The Omani 
oil price, averaged $46 per barrel during January- December 2020 and was lower 
by 27.6% over the previous year. The average daily oil production decreased by 
2.1% to 950,700 barrels during this period. Oil futures curves were indicating price 
increases in the medium term, still remaining substantially below pre-COVID-19 
levels with oversupply and large inventories due to dampened demand by low 
air traffic volume. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) witnessed a year-on-year 
negative growth of (-0.9%) during 2020. Several sectors saw declines in revenues, 
profitability dropped and leverage increased exposing these to high liquidity and 
solvency risks with deteriorated debt servicing ability. 

  With budget deficits expected over the forecast period and official foreign reserves 
under pressure, the Government has turned to the debt markets for financing. 
These increasing debts (with already large initial debt stock in 2020) heighten 
debt sustainability concerns for Oman. Borrowing has been getting costlier with 
Oman sovereign downgrades and negative outlooks. Liquidity conditions in Oman 
are constrained and are likely to remain so over the medium term as Government 
deposit growth is expected to remain weak.
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 The inevitable public health response to the pandemic has come at a steep 
economic cost resulting in real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) decline. The 
International Monetary Fund Revised Estimates for Oman 2021 shows the overall 
GDP contracted by 6.4% in 2020 (revised up from the previous IMF forecast of 
negative (-10%)), with non-hydrocarbon GDP estimated to have contracted by 
10% and a shallower decline in hydrocarbon GDP due to strong oil condensate 
production not covered by the OPEC+ Agreement. The IMF Revised Estimates for 
Oman 2021 show Real GDP growth revised to 1.8% from earlier negative (-0.5%). 

2. Performance of the MSM Equity Markets

2.1 During 2020, all three-indexes declined: MSM Index declined by (-8.10%), ADX 
by (-0.60%) and DFM by (-9.87%). This was in some contrast with 2019 when 
the MSM Index declined by (-8.55%) while ADX and DFM increased by 3.59% 
and 9.49% respectively. With about 90% of the Company’s portfolio in Oman, 
the negative performance of the stock market impacted on the overall investment 
valuations of the Company.

2.2 Marker capitalization during 2020 is summarized below: 
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 The stock market is viewed as an indicator of the economic growth of Oman, a 
vital part in its monetary policy and its performance as an indicator of the stability 
of the economy. Stock market stability and its volatility will always be monitored 
as a development indicator. 

3. Company’s performance during 2020

3.1 Financial Strategy

 Implementation of the Company’s budget for 2020 faced unsurmountable challenges 
as economic assumptions underpinning the strategy remained unrealized. Amidst 
the lockdown during the second quarter, the Company faced the combined effect 
of both higher business risk, resulting from continuing Covid-19 impact on 
markets, and higher financial risk, resulting from rising interest rates. 
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 The Board reconsidered the Company’s strategy for the short to medium term and set 
plans to mitigate financial risks with the objective of generating liquidity, reducing 
bank borrowings and settling government soft loan repayment commitments. Any 
surplus available cash would be reinvested in regular income stream generating 
assets. The Board’s massive cost reduction and restructuring undertaken during the 
previous year proved to be opportune in protecting the Company’s financial health 
during such times of economic difficulties.

3.2 Financial highlights

 The Group and the Parent Company incurred a Net Losses of RO (1,646,626) and 
RO (1,335,357) respectively during 2020 compared with a Group Net Profit of RO 
262,032 (Restated) and Parent Net Profit of RO 562,224 (Restated) during 2019. 
The break-ups are summarized in the tables below. 

Particulars - Group

Holding
31.12.2020

%
2020 
(RO)

2019 
Restated 

(RO)

Net (Loss) 
(before share of results of 
Subsidiaries and Associates) (1,117,115) (24,597)

Subsidiaries:

Majan Capital Fund - - 447,234

Omani Euro Food Industries Co SAOG 80.84% (311,269) (270,234)

FINCORP SAOG 51.20% (115,383) 175,233

Associates:

Oman Hotels and Tourism Co SAOC 31.72% (242,089) 90,689

Oman Fiber Optic Co SAOC   20.97% 200,815 24,868

Fincorp Al Amal Fund 37.25% (61,585) (151,203)

Net Profit / (Loss)  (1,646,626) 292,032

Particulars -  Parent

Holding
31.12.2020

%
2020 
(RO)

2019 
Restated 

(RO)

Net (Loss) 
(before share of results of 
Subsidiaries and Associates) (1,117,115) (24,597)

Subsidiaries:

Majan Capital Fund - - 447,234

Omani Euro Food Industries Co SAOG 80.84% - -

FINCORP SAOG 51.20% (115,383) 175,233

Associates:

Oman Hotels and Tourism Co SAOC 31.72% (242,089) 90,689

Oman Fiber Optic Co SAOC   20.97% 200,815 24,868

Fincorp Al Amal Fund 37.25% (61,585) (151,203)

Net Profit / (Loss)  (1,335,357) 562,224



25

3.3  Restatement in previous Financial Statements 

 A restatement of the Company’s previous financial statements was made during 
the year to rectify a “material” inaccuracy related to Omani Euro Food Industries 
Co. The summary of the adjustments in the Group and Parent Company for as 
shown below: 

Particulars
Group 2019

RO
Parent 2019

RO
Net Profit After Tax 322,108 322,108
Restatement
Depreciation impact of Oman Euro food Cost 
of sales in Group Consolidation (30,076)
Oman Euro food Share of Loss not included 
in the Parent 240,116
Restated Profit Year 2019 292,032 562,224

3.4 Investment movement 

 The movements of Parent Company investments under different categories during 
the year from 1.1.2020 to 31.12.2020 and from the previous year are summarized 
in the following table: 

RO in Million

Particulars

Financial 
Assets – 
FVTPL 
Equity

Financial 
Assets 
–  Debt 

(Amortised 
Cost)

Associates 
(NAV 
basis)

Subsidiaries 
(NAV basis)

Total
At 01.01.2019 22.057 2.142 14.868 6.436 45.503
At 01.01.2020 21.377 2.132 17.824 3.613 44.946
Purchases - -
Less: Cost of 
Sales -0.857 - - -0.857
Unrealized 
gain/(loss) -0.709 - - - -0.709
Share of 
Results - - -0.103 -0.115 -0.218
Impairment/
Amortisation - -0.011 - - -0.011
Dividend 
received -0.588 -0.588
At 31.12.2020 19.811 2.121 17.133 3.498 42.563
% to Total 46.55% 4.98% 40.25% 8.22% 100%

3.5 Performance of Subsidiaries, Associates and Other Investments

 This Annual Report contains a separate section (Investments Overview) which 
highlights in greater detail the performance of project companies, Subsidiaries, 
Associates and Other investments during 2020 summarised below:
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• Oman Hotels & Tourism Co. SAOC incurred a Net Loss of (RO 822,363) 
compared to Net Profit RO 333,224 in 2019 with tourism and hospitality 
being one of the major sectors affected by the pandemic.

• Omani Euro Food Industries Co. SAOG recorded a Net Loss of (RO 385,049) 
compared to a Net Loss of (RO 334,217) in 2019 and the impact is reflected 
only in Group Financials in 2020.

• FINCORP SAOG incurred a Net Loss of (RO 225,364) compared to a Net 
profit of RO 794,386 in 2019.

• Al Amal Fund reported a Net Loss of (RO 162,840) compared to a Net profit 
of RO 350,241 in 2019.

• Oman Fiber Optic Co. SAOC achieved a Net Profit of RO 957,716 compared 
to a Net Profit of RO 118,601 in 2019.

3.6 Total Borrowings and Debt/ Equity Ratio

 During 2020, in line with the financial strategy, bank borrowings were reduced. 
The Parent Company’s total borrowings stood at RO 25.45 Million as at 31.12.2020 
(reduced from RO 27.52 Million at end 2019) consisting of the Government Soft 
Loan of RO 15 Million, bank loans for operations of RO 8.81 Million and the Head 
Office Building Loan of RO 1.64 Million. 

 Against the Net Equity of RO 20.27 Million of the Parent Company, the Debt 
Equity Ratio stood at 1.26 times as summarized in the table below:

Borrowings
31.12.2020

RO Million
31.12.2019
RO Million

Bank Borrowings

Term Loan from banks 6.630 8.866

Building Loan 1.640 1.841

Overdraft from banks 2.181 1.817

Total Bank Borrowings 10.451 12.524

Government Soft Loan 15.000 15.000

Total Borrowings 25.451 27.524

Net Equity 20.279 21.614

Debt / Equity 1.26 time 1.27 time

3.7 Non-controlling Interests

 The results and net assets of the Subsidiaries relating to the shareholders other 
than the Parent Company are shown under ‘Non-controlling Interests’ in the Group 
statements. The Statement of Profit or Loss has recorded a decrease of RO 183,760 
related to these minority interests for the year 2020 (compared to and increase of 
RO 591,790 in 2019). The Group Total Equity includes RO 3,161,543 representing 
the net assets of the minority shareholders as at 31.12.2020 (compared to RO 
3,345,303 at end 2019). 
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3.8 Composition of investments in Parent Company

 The composition of the Parent Company’s investment as at 31st December 2020, 
in comparison with earlier year’s status indicates the following proportion of 
investments of the Company:

Particulars
2020 2019

RO % RO %

Fair Value Through 
Profit & Loss

19,811,465 46.55% 21,377,538 47.56%

Associates (At NAV) 17,133,033 40.25% 17,823,619 39.66%

Subsidiaries (At NAV) 3,497,936 8.22% 3,613,319 8.04%

At Amortised Cost 2,120,652 4.98% 2,131,371 4.74%

Total 42,563,086 100.00% 44,945,847 100.00%

3.9 Investment Portfolio at Year End

 The table below compares the sectoral diversification of the Company’s total 
investments valued at RO 42.563 Million on 31.12.2020 (compared to RO 44.946 
Million on 31.12.2019). The Company’s portfolio remained unchanged during the 
year. High priority will be given to reshuffle it with asset classification by risk and 
liquidity (e.g. equities/ stocks, fixed income/ bonds and cash equivalent or money 
market instruments) and building a portfolio base consisting of readily liquid 
assets to cover commitments, debt repayments, operational costs, etc.

Sector

2020 2019

Investment 
Value  

(RO 
Million)

Holding 
%

Investment 
Value  

(RO 
Million) Holding %

1 Tourism & Hotels 9.756 22.92% 9.998 22.24%

2 Industry 5.055 11.88% 4.97 11.06%

3 Investment 6.596 15.50% 6.908 15.37%

4 Banking 6.576 15.45% 7.823 17.41%

5 Real Estate 2.006 4.71% 2.013 4.48%

6 Insurance 2.541 5.97% 2.596 5.78%

7 Power 1.066 2.50% 1.046 2.33%

8 Leasing 1.735 4.08% 1.929 4.29%

9 Services 0.563 1.32% 0.664 1.48%

10 Agriculture 0.159 0.37% 0.224 0.50%

11 Telecom 4.390 10.31% 4.644 10.33%

12 Education 2.121 4.98% 2.131 4.74%

 Total 42.563 100.00% 44.946 100.00%
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3.10 Shareholders Equity

 The following shows the growth in Shareholders Equity throughout the years 

indicating a compounded annual growth, including cash dividend, of 8.46% from 

2001 to 2020.
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3.11 Head Office building results

 With a substantial overhang in lettable office space in the market and deteriorated 

economic landscape, the real estate market experienced downward pressure in 

terms of both demand and achievable rental values. Floors in the Head Office 

building are occupied by reputed tenants on long-term tenancy agreements and 

efforts continue to market the vacant units. Despite the current setback, this 

investment will eventually generate a sustained rental income stream.

3.12 Government Soft Loan

 The above macroeconomic factors caused fluctuations in the market which 

affected valuations the Company’s investments and its banking operations suffered 

severe constraints consequent to the dramatic fall in the banks’ risk appetite toward 

investment companies. The banks called in to increase the security levels given 

against borrowings or make repayments to reduce loans availed. This demand 

came at a time of liquidity crunch in the markets where assets could not be sold 

without causing drastic change in assets’ pricing. The Company’s ability to avail 

full limits of previously sanctions facilities was drastically curtailed apart from 

substantial resources being wasted and time lost on each and every renewal 

of short-term loans. This put a huge pressure on availability of liquidity and 

Management defaulted on the Government Soft Loan first repayment tranche 

on 1st November 2020. Both Governments were supportive and extended this 

deadline till end March 2021.
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4. Systems and Internal Controls during 2020

4.1 Fraud case

 For the first time in its history (over a quarter of a century), the Company became a 
victim of a fraud.  An accountant working on secondment basis from a consultancy 
firm (also for the first time in the Company’s history) perpetrated the fraud 
through forged cheques and theft by misuse of Company credit card. The cheques 
were deliberately timed and encashed during the period of lull surrounding 
the Eid holidays. A case was filed with the Financial Crimes Unit of the Royal 
Oman Police and the Public Prosecution. Apprehension of the perpetrator who 
has absconded from the Country will be launched imminently in his country of 
residence.

4.2 Enhanced Internal Controls

 Although the Company has a robust internal audit system and strict adherence is 
monitored to ensure compliance with the procedures and operating systems, as a 
result of this extraordinary fraud case, immediate measures were taken with the 
banks to prevent further theft and internal controls were tightened even more to 
prevent and detect fraud.

5. Corporate Governance Matters during 2020

5.1 New Articles of Association

 Pursuant to an Administrative Decision by the Capital Market Authority, during 
an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 6th July 2020, the Company replaced 
its current Articles of Association with the new template form of Articles of 
Association for public companies set out in the Decision. The Model Articles, 
which now comprise eight articles that are limited to very high-level company 
information, avoid duplicating the provisions of the new Commercial Companies 
Law and other laws. 

5.2 Number of Board Members

 Complying with the requirement to change the number of directors to comprise an 
odd number, the Company reduced its Board to five members pursuant to Article 
No. 7 of its new Articles of Association of the Company. Prior to 06.07.2020, 
the Board consisted of six members in accordance with Article No. 22. of the 
Company’s previous Articles of Association.

5.3 Litigation contingencies

 In August 2019, the Ex-CEO of the Company filed a complaint with the Ministry 
of Manpower for unfair dismissal and the case was transferred to the Primary 
Court of Muscat. As at this reporting date, no settlement was reached. 

 Two other former employees (Investment Manager and Translator) also filed a 
case during 2020 for unfair dismissal after the termination of their employment 
contract in 2019 due to discontinuation of these functions in the organizational 
structure of the Company. 
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6. Outlook Going Forward

6.1 Oman anticipated business environment

 With budget deficits expected over the forecast period, official foreign reserves 
under pressure and increasing debts, liquidity conditions are likely to remain 
constrained.

 Some growth boosting reforms to support the economy are being put in place for 
the medium to long term horizon through rolling out of a medium-term adjustment 
program by the Government which includes accelerating the initiatives outlined 
in the National Program for Fiscal Balance. Recent implementation of policy 
measures and promulgation of several critical laws (Foreign Capital Investment, 
Privatization, Public-Private Partnership, Bankruptcy, etc.) are aimed at improving 
the business and investment environment to promote non-oil economic activities 
in the country. Furthermore, the Tawazun Committee, constituted in September 
2019, has the mandate to work out a medium-term fiscal consolidation plan for 
macroeconomic stability. These measures are aimed at improving business climate 
and, coupled with strengthening of macroeconomic stability, will promote non-oil 
economic activities and private sector-led growth in Oman. 

 Non-associated natural gas was discovered recently in central Oman (i.e. the 
Ghazeer gas field) and partnerships with international energy firms were formed. 
This is expected to potentially fuel new investments. 

 Considering the above factors, the outlook of the Omani economy is expected 
to grow with the above drivers. As a result, the World Bank anticipates Oman’s 
economy to make a positive recovery of average 4% growth over the next two 
years. Also, with the global roll out of vaccination programs, countries already 
setting plans to end lockdowns and rising oil prices, GCC economies are expected 
to recover heralding a more optimistic outlook in markets. 

6.2 Risks and uncertainties

 High sensitivity to oil price fluctuations will remain the key risk to the outlook. 
The investment environment will remain challenging and will continue to affect 
the stability of financial markets which are expected to remain subdued with 
tight liquidity, strained cash flows that may trigger loan delinquencies. The above 
factors will cause both short and longer-term fluctuations in the market, which 
will continue to affect valuations of the Company’s investments and, hence, 
strain ability to divest. Severe lack of liquidity and absence of a buyer market 
undermined implementation of divestment plans during 2020 and this scenario is 
likely to continue into 2021.

6.3 Company’s Risk Management Policies

 The Company has well-established investment policies and processes including 
identification and management of various risks associated with investment. The 
Company set course and will pursue its financial strategy described above. The 
business environment and the Government’s economic road map to recovery will 
be monitored closely for any opportunity to reshuffle the investment portfolio to 
generate improved liquidity.
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6.4 Liquidity, Capital Resources and Commitment Priorities

 The banking outlook is assumed to remain unchanged during 2021. Debt rollover 
and refinancing risks have been rising and the banks will continue to tighten their 
credit policies apart from increasing the interest rates.  At time of writing. the 
above challenges are causes of concern for the Company.

 Debt reduction will be a high priority strategy and, for this reason, settlement plans 
are being negotiated with banks. The Company’s financial risk mitigation and debt 
reduction strategy mentioned above will continue in the short to medium term. 

6.5 Government Soft Loan

 For over two decades, the Company and its shareholders benefitted from the 
interest-free Soft Loan extended by the two Governments. Having defaulted 
repayment of the first tranche in November 2020, plans have been formulated to 
start the repayments over the next 6 years with the first two tranches during 2021. 

6.6 Proposed investment in a Hospital Project

 The project is envisaged as a 70-bed high-end hospital promoted in partnership 
with a leading medical group in Spain. As Founder Promoters, the Company and 
its Spanish partners are committed to hold 20% and 15% respectively in the project 
company and the balance share capital has been fully booked by institutional 
investors in Oman. Having concluded the matter of land and Constitutive 
Documents ready for execution, the conversion of the project company from 
limited liability to a closed joint stock company was planned during second quarter 
of 2020 had it not been derailed by the pandemic and its impact on all parties 
involved. Depending on circumstances, soft activities will continue but no major 
investment has been budgeted during 2021 until resumption of normality in the 
business environment.  

6.7 Proposed investment in an Assisted Reproduction Clinic

 The Company and two Spanish partners have studied and committed to establish 
Assisted Reproduction and Genetic Units in the Region, starting with a first unit 
in Muscat, on the ground floor of the Company’s Building. One of the Spanish 
partners is a specialist setup which has been in the business of offering diagnosis 
and treatment of infertility services with cutting-edge technology and qualified 
personnel for over four decades. It has nine units and two satellites nationally 
in Spain and one international center abroad and performs all the reproduction 
techniques existing nowadays in reproductive medicine. It has a Genetics Unit and 
all the techniques that are used in reproductive genetics are carried out and they 
are the only ones with a DNA Bank of Donors in Europe. Genetic Counselling is 
also offered for a better diagnosis, treatment and consensus decision-making. Their 
various techniques and complementary processes will be transferred to the unit in 
Muscat under a Management Agreement, apart from their alignment through their 
own investment in the clinic.
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 Investment in this Unit was imminent during the first quarter of 2020.The 
preliminary commercial license of the project company was obtained, an 
application for preliminary medical license for the clinic was ready for submission 
to the Ministry of Health and the project company bank account was opened. Fit 
out plans are ready but implementation was suspended as a result of the pandemic.

  Management maintains total awareness of challenges faced in prevailing business 
environment and is keen to enhance the credibility and financial strength of the 
Company in the coming years and to source further improvement in the overall 
return on the shareholders’ funds. 

Raffy Kozadjian
Acting Chief Executive Officer
10th March 2021
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O&E SUBSIDIARIES & ASSOCIATES  

A. SUBSIDIARIES

 General Information
 These are companies in which O&E holds 50% and above and consist of two 

companies listed in Table (1) below. The total value of investment, net of impairments, 
based on Net Asset Value at end 31/12/2020 in Subsidiaries has reached RO 3.498 
Million representing 8.22% of the Parent Company’s total investments. 

 Table (1) - Subsidiaries 

Sr Company Name Capital Shareholders %
OMAN

1 Oman Euro Food Industries vCo. 
SAOG

RO 2,000,000 O&E:  80.84% 
AAAID:  17.20% 

Others:    1.96% 
2 The Financial Corporation SAOG RO 7,002,996 O&E:    51.2% 

OIFC :    21.8% 
Al Khonji Invest LLC : 11.6%

Sawairis:    10.0% 
Others:      5.4%

 Performance of Subsidiaries 

1. Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG 

• The company contract manufactures baby food products for Heinz and also 
produces and markets its own products under Mother’s Choice brand name. 
Mother’s Choice brand baby cereals are sold in 10 countries around the World.

• The company achieved a turnover of RO 1.55 Million compared to RO 1.40 
Million during 2019, recording a drop of 10.3% in Sales. 
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• The Operating Loss was RO (227)K in 2020 compared to the Operating Loss of 
RO (218)K during 2019. Net Losses were RO (385)K in 2020 compared to Net 
Losses of RO (334)K recorded in 2019. 

• Heinz Sales related to cereals, rusks and biscuits during 2020 were RO 604K 
(compared to RO 690K in 2019) a decrease of 12%. Complan Heinz sales were 
discontinued in 2020 compared to sales of RO 169K in 2019. Overall sales to 
Heinz during 2020 were thus reduced by 30%.

• Mother's Choice Sales were RO 412K during 2020 compared to RO 498K 
in 2019, a decrease of 17% mainly due to pandemic issues and war in Iraq; 
however, the loss was partially compensated with increased sales in Oman, 
Yemen and Saudi Arabia.

• Complan Zydus sales were RO 526K during 2020 compared to RO 33K in 
2019, a massive increase, and this business is growing after Zydus take over 
from Heinz.

• The Capital of the company is eroded by 145%.

• O&E’s holds 80.84% of the capital holding 1,616,778 shares. 

2. The Financial Corporation SAOG (FINCORP) 

• The company now operates in three business activities: brokerage, portfolio 
management and investment. 

• During 2020 the Group earned total operational Revenue of RO 0.35 Million 
(RO 1.56 Million in 2019) and Net Loss for the period stood at RO (225)K 
compared to a Net profit of RO 794K during the previous year. 

• O&E’s holds 51.20% of the capital holding 35,854,310 shares. 
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B. ASSOCIATE COMPANIES 

 General Information

  These are companies in which O&E holds between 20% and 50% and consist of 
three companies listed in Table (2) below. The total value of investments based on 
Net Asset Value at end 31/12/2020 in Associate Companies has reached RO 17.13 
Million representing 40.25% of the Parent Company’s total investments. 

 Table (2) – Associate Companies 

Sr Company Name Capital Shareholders  %

OMAN

3 Oman Fiber Optic Company SAOC RO 7,215,118 O&E:    21.0% 
Omantel :    41.0% 

Omar Al Zawawi:    21.5% 
Others:   16.5%

4 Oman Hotels & Tourism Co. SAOC RO 6,985,000 O&E:    31.7% 
Al Khonji Invest LLC:   60.0%

Others:   8.3% 

5 Fincorp Al Amal fund Units RO 7,985,174 O&E:    37.25% 
Financial Corp:   21.26%

Others:   41.49%

 Performance of Associate Companies 

3. Oman Fiber Optic Company SAOC (OFO)

• This is a closed joint stock company (converted from public joint stock company 
through an Extraordinary General Meeting held in March 2017) was established 
in 1996 specializing in design and manufacture of optical fiber and fiber optic 
cables.

• The turnover during 2020 was RO 18.11 Million compared to RO 21.32 Million 
during the previous year, a reduction of 15%.

• The company achieved a Net Profit of RO 958K, compared to the Net Profit of 
RO 119K during the previous year. 

• The net asset value per share as on 31/12/2020 was RO 2.173.

• No dividend has been recommended for year 2020 (2019: 30%).

• O&E’s holds 1,512,863 shares as at 31/12/2020 representing 21.0% of the 
capital of RO 7,215,118. 
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4. Oman Hotels and Tourism Company SAOC

• The legal form of this company was changed from public joint stock company 
(SAOG) to a closed joint stock company, through an Extraordinary General 
Meeting held on 25 October 2017. 

• The principal activity of the Parent Company is the ownership and operation 
of Tulip Inn Downtown Muscat and Al Wadi Hotel in Sohar. The Parent 
Company also manages outside restaurants and has investments in subsidiaries: 
Sur Plaza Hotel in Sur and Desert Night Camp luxury desert resort in Bidiya, 
Sharqiyah Sands of Oman. This is one of the sectors most severely affected by 
the pandemic. 

• During 2020, the Revenue generated at Group level was RO 1.27 Million 
compared to RO 3.62 Million during the previous year.

• The consolidated Operating Loss was RO (886)K, compared to a Profit of RO 
319K during previous year. 

• The Associate Company share of profit was RO 261K compared to RO 226K 
achieved in 2019. 

• The company recorded a net loss of RO (822)K at Group level compared to Net 
Profit of RO 333K the previous year.

• The Board has not proposed any dividend for the year (Nil in 2019). 

• O&E’s holds 22,158,419 shares representing 31.72% of the capital of RO 6.985 
Million. 

5. Fincorp Al Amal Fund

• FINCORP Al Amal Fund is open-ended, registered and incorporated in the 
Sultanate of Oman on 20 October 2004. The day-to-day operations of the Fund, 
the investment advisory and administration roles are managed by the Investment 
Manager, the Financial Corporation Company SAOG. The principal activity 
of the Fund is to invest in equities and debt securities through a diversified 
portfolio, primarily comprising of equity and equity related investments in 
companies listed on the MSM and other GCC markets.

• During 2020, the Fund recorded a Net Loss of RO (162)K, compared to previous 
year Net Profit of RO 350K. 

• The Net Asset Value per unit as on 31/12/2020 was RO 1.042.

• The Fund has not proposed any dividend for the year 2020 (2019: 4.5% being 
45 Baiza per unit).

• O&E shareholding in it amounts to 37.25%, being 2,974,771 units of its Share 
Capital.
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C. OTHER INVESTMENTS

 General Information
 Other Investments include Quoted and Unquoted Investments aggregating to RO 

19.81 Million and Debt Instrument for RO 2.12 Million representing 46.5% and 5% 
respective of the Parent Company total investments. Table (3) below shows Quoted 
Investment and Unquoted Investments where O&E holds a stake of above 1% and 
also a Debt Instrument.

 Table (3) - Other Investments 

Sr Company’s Name Capital 
O&E  
Stake 

OMAN

6 Computer Stationery Industry SAOG RO 1,000,000 14.40%

7 National Aluminum Products Co. SAOG RO 3,357,145 13.30%

8 Muscat Clearing & Depository Co. SAOC RO 5,000,000 2.70%

9 Fund For Development of Youth Projects SAOC RO 5,370,000 4.70%

10 Majan Development Co. SAOC RO 16,100,000 5.00%

11 Iskan Oman Invest Co. SAOC RO 12,500,000 10.00%

12 Octal Holding & Co. SAOC RO 77,564,687 2.90%

13 Al Najd Agricultural Development Co. SAOC RO 12,800,000 5.10%

14 Al Jazeera Steel Products Co. SAOG RO 12,489,796 1.60%

15 Al Kamil Power Co. SAOG RO 9,625,000 3.10%

16 National Finance Co. SAOG RO 54,123,045 2.60%

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES

17 Gulf Capital PJSC AED 1,225,000,000 0.41%

18 Al Wathba National Insurance Co PJSC AED 207,000,000 1.17%

19
Taleem Investments Co  (Amity School) -  
Murabaha Facility

Not Applicable NA

 Performance of companies 

6. Computer Stationery Industry SAOG

• The company was established in 1985. The principal activity is the manufacture 
and sale of continuous stationery and commercial printing materials. It has a 
wholly owned subsidiary ‘Oman Printers and Stationers LLC’ which is engaged 
in specialized printing of school books, leaflets and other general materials. 

• The company reported revenues of RO 1.03 Million during 2020 compared to 
RO 1.44 Million during 2019, a decrease of 28.5%. 

• The Net Loss After Tax was RO (181)K compared to a Loss of RO (81)K in 
2019. 

• No dividend has been recommended for year 2020 (Year 2019, Nil).

• O&E holds 14.437% stake in the company.
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7. National Aluminum Products Co SAOG 

• The company was established in 1984 with its manufacturing facility located 
in Rusayl Industrial Estate. It produces aluminum extrusions and also sells 
proprietary high-quality aluminum systems. The company expanded its capacity 
with two presses and a vertical powder coating line in mid-year 2016 to enhance 
competitiveness through operating cost reductions and improved productivity. 
The aluminum extrusion industry continued to face a very challenging 
environment characterized by intense competition and cheaper supplies from 
abroad which, combined with subdued oil prices on the construction industry 
affected the performance of the year. 

• The company reported sales of RO 35.5 Million in 2020 compared to RO 43.0 
Million during 2019, a decrease of 17%. 

• It recorded Net loss of RO (1,083)K in 2020 compared to Net Loss of 
RO (774)K during 2019. 

• No dividend has been recommended for year 2020 (Year 2019, Nil). 

• O&E holds 13.3% stake in the company. 

8. Muscat Clearing And Depository Company SAOC 

• This closed joint stock company was established in 1999 and carries out the 
depository and transfer functions of the Muscat Securities Market. The company 
is primarily engaged in registering and transferring the ownership of securities on 
the MSM and providing the services such as maintenance of shareholders registers 
of joint stock companies, investment funds and other securities listed on the 
MSM, depository and registration of all trading contracts of securities, issuance of 
ownership certificates, validation of restrictions and pledge of shares, etc. 

• The Total Revenue reached RO 4.47 Million during 2020 compared to RO 3.93 
Million during 2019, an increase of 13.7%.

• The company reported a Net Profit After Tax of RO 1,138K in 2020 compared 
to a Net Profit of RO 803K in 2019, an increase of 42%.

• The company has proposed a cash dividend of 8% (2019: 15%).

• During 2020 the Company issued 2 Million bonus shares and its Share Capital 
increased from RO 3 Million to RO 5 Million.

• O&E owns 134,766 shares being 2.7% of the capital of RO 5.0 Million of the 
company. 

9. Fund for Development of Youth Projects SAOC (FDY)

• This closed joint stock company was established in 1999. Its core activity is 
to support and promote start-up Small and Medium Enterprises in Oman to 
generate employment opportunities for Omanis. It provides advisory services 
and support to entrepreneurs as well as financial support in the form of equity 
and debt. 

• Revenues of RO 577K were recorded during 2020 compared to RO 799K in 
2019, a decrease of 28%.

• Net Profit amounted to RO 105K during 2020 compared to a Net profit of RO 
450K during 2019. 

• O&E owns 250,000 shares representing 4.7% of the share capital of FDY.
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10. Majan Development Company SAOC

• The company was established in March 2008 promoted by Gulf Investment 
House, Kuwait, in association with various institutional investors in Oman. The 
business model is a full spectrum service covering four areas of activities: land 
trading, property development, real estate funds and property management. 

• The company recorded revenues from rental income and others of RO 4.01 
Million during 2020 as compared to RO 3.84 Million during 2019.

• Net Loss for the year was RO (131)K compared to Net loss of RO (65)K at end 2019. 

• O&E holds 5% of the capital of the company which is now RO 16.1 Million. 

11. Iskan Oman Invest Company SAOC

• The company was established in 2008 promoted by Housing Finance (Iskan 
Kuwait) in association with institutional investors in Oman. It is a closed joint 
stock company originally engaged in real estate development projects and 
services. It has since then diversified its investment portfolio in the education 
sector and is expanding into the healthcare market.

• The Revenues amounted to RO 769K during 2020 compared to RO 707K in 2019. 

• The Net Profit reported during 2020 was RO 167K compared to Net Profit RO 
39K Million in 2019. 

• O&E holds 10% of the capital of the company.

12. Octal Holding & Company SAOC

• It is a world leading company specialized in manufacturing PET resin and APET 
sheets used in the packaging industry. The production facility is based in Salalah, 
Oman. Octal’s strategic position, its advanced technological capabilities and 
ease of raw materials sourcing contribute to lowering its costs and thus give it 
competitive advantage in producing PET resin and amorphous PET sheets at the 
highest quality. Its well-timed phased expansion and unique marketing strategy 
play a great role in growth of revenues.

• During the year ended 31 December 2020, the company reported revenues 
of RO 259 Million (USD 673 Million) compared to RO 303 Million (USD 
799Million) in 2018, a decrease of 15%. 

• It reported a profit of RO 11.5 Million (USD 29.8 Million) during 2020 
compared to a RO 10.4 Million (USD 27.1) during 2019, an increase of 11%.

• O&E holds 2.89% of the total issued and paid up share capital of RO 77,564,687. 

13. Al Najd Agricultural Development Co. SAOC

• The company was established to develop the agricultural sector of the Sultanate 
with the support of the Government and selective private sector participation. 
The company produces animal forage utilizing central pivot irrigation systems 
and adopting modern production methods.

• The company recorded revenues of RO 517K in 2020 compared to RO 824K 
in 2019.

• It incurred a Loss of RO (439)K compared to a Loss RO (389)K during 2019. 
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• The company’s paid up capital is RO 10,353,500 at end 2020 while its 
authorized capital is RO 12,800,000. This paid up capital includes shares of RO 
2,688,000 given to the farmers and Thumrait Development Fund in accordance 
with a Government grant. 

• O&E holds 5.13% equity stake in this company. 

14. Al Jazeera Steel Products Company SAOG

• This is a joint stock company established in 1996 specialized in manufacture of 
steel products and is based in Sohar, Oman. 

• Net profits during 2020 were RO 3.1 Million compared to RO 308K during the 
previous year. 

• The Board of Directors recommended a cash dividend of 14% for the year 2020 
amounting to Baizas 14 for every share held (2019: 5%) .

• O&E holds 2,010,000 shares in this company representing 1.6% of the share 
capital of RO 12.489 Million. 

15. Al Kamil Power Company SAOG

• The company owns and operates a 285 MW electricity generating plant near Al 
Kamil, Oman.

• The total income of the company during 2020 was RO 6.5 Million compared to 
RO 7.3 Million in 2019. 

• The company posted a Net Loss of RO (5.03) Million (Profit RO 3.56 million 
in 2019).

• For 2020, no dividend has been recommended; this compares with a cash dividend 
of 55% for 2019 (35% paid in May 2020 and 20% paid in November 2020).

• O&E holds 3,025,540 shares in this company representing 3.14% of the capital. 

16. National Finance Co SAOG

• The company was established in 1987 and is engaged in asset-based financing 
for individual and SME customers. The company and Oman Oryx Leasing 
Company SAOG merged by incorporation with effect from 01/01/2018. This 
enhanced market presence through increase in customer reach, service channels 
and enabled rapid expansion through launch of new products. 

• During 2020, Total Income reached RO 41.0 Million compared to RO 41.8 
Million in year 2019 and Net Income for the current year was RO 8 Million 
compared to RO 10 Million in 2019. 

• The company has declared a cash dividend of 9% for 2020 compared to 12.5% 
cash dividend for 2019. 

• O&E has 2.6% stake in this company. 

17. Gulf Capital PJSC

• O&E is a founder member in Gulf Capital Private Joint Stock Company, a UAE 
based private equity firm. The company’s strategy is to acquire controlling 
stakes in highly profitable, fast growing and visible companies in select 
industries in the Gulf Region. The Group financial performance depends upon 
the contribution from private equity activities and overall growth in value of 
portfolio of private equity investments.
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• The Net Loss for the year was AED (97.6) Million compared to a Net profit of 
AED 11.3 Million in the previous year. 

• O&E holds 5,000,000 shares (AED 5,000,000) in this company.

18. Al Wathba National Insurance Co. PJSC

• The company was incorporated in Abu Dhabi as a public shareholding company, 
listed in the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange, and its principal business is general 
insurance and re-insurance of all classes. 

• The Net Profit reported for 2020 increased to AED 11.3 Million compared to 
AED 6 Million in 2019.

• The total assets at end 2020 stood at AED 1.562 Million compared to AED 1.570 
Million in 2019 and the shareholders equity decreased from AED 766 Million at 
end 2019 to AED 721 Million at end 2020. 

• O&E holds 2,415,000 shares in this company with a share capital of AED 207 
Million.

19. Amity School, Dubai 

• O&E invested in Amity School in Dubai, and being operated by the reputed 
Operator from India, Amity Education Group. The Investment is structured in 
the form of extension of Islamic Finance (Commodity Murabaha) facility to 
the Amity School through an off-shore company, Taleem Investment Co. The 
Commodity Murabaha agreement, which is for a period of 6 years, contains the 
repayment schedule and detailed terms and conditions under which the facility 
is extended to the Amity School LLC. In respect of all the repayment obligation, 
Amity School LLC have provided various security/ comfort: postdated cheques, 
financial bank guarantee, mortgage over the school building through a Bank 
acting as a Security Agent and contractual comfort from the Parent Foundation 
of the Amity Group.

• The amount invested by the Company was AED 20.0 Million (RO 2.1 Million).
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SECTORAL DIVERSIFICATION OF THE TOTAL INVESTMENTS 
OF O&E  
 Table (4) below indicates the sectoral diversification of O&E’s total investments 

valued at RO 42.563 Million on 31/12/2020 based on carrying value, in the Parent 
Company:

 Table (4) - Sectoral diversification of the total value of investments 

Sr. Sector 

2020

Investment 
Value  

RO Million 
Holding % 

1 Tourism & Hotels 9.755 22.92%

2 Industry 5.055 11.88%

3 Investment 6.596 15.50%

4 Banking 6.575 15.45%

5 Real Estate 2.006 4.71%

6 Insurance 2.540 5.97%

7 Power 1.065 2.50%

8 Leasing 1.734 4.08%

9 Services 562 1.32%

10 Agriculture 159 0.37%

11 Telecom 4.389 10.31%

12 Education 2.120 4.98%

 Total 42.563 100.00%
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European Hospital

The project is envisaged as a 70-bed high-end hospital promoted 
in partnership with a leading medical group in Spain. As Founder 
Promoters, the Company and its Spanish partners are committed to 
hold 20% and 15% respectively in the project company and the balance 
share capital has been fully booked by institutional investors in Oman. 

The matter of land has been concluded and Constitutive Documents 
are ready for execution. The conversion of the project company from 
limited liability to a closed joint stock company was planned during 
second quarter of 2020 but it was derailed by the pandemic and its 
impact on all parties involved. 

Fertility Clinic

The Company and two Spanish partners have studied and committed 
to establish Assisted Reproduction and Genetic Units in the Region, 
starting with a first unit in Muscat, on the ground floor of the Company’s 
Building. One of the Spanish partners is a specialist setup which has 
been in the business of offering diagnosis and treatment of infertility 
services with cutting-edge technology and qualified personnel for over 
four decades. Genetic Counselling will also be offered for a better 
diagnosis, treatment and consensus decision-making. Their various 
techniques and complementary processes will be transferred to the unit 
in Muscat under a Management Agreement, apart from their alignment 
through their own investment in the clinic.

NEW INVESTMENTS IN PROJECTS
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2020

  (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
2020       2019 2018 2020 2019       2018

Group  Group Group Parent Parent Parent
Notes RO RO RO RO RO RO

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 5 2,452,454 2,613,590  1,502,375 104,763 1,166,846  147,993 
Trade and other receivables 6 1,250,957 2,076,848  3,712,599 143,295      76,611  2,108,698 
Inventories 463,472 445,819  481,699 -             - -
Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) 7 22,748,973 25,005,888  32,797,259 19,811,465 21,377,538 22,057,078 
Investment in equity 
accounted investees 9 18,901,821 19,704,887  14,868,150 17,133,033 17,823,619  14,868,150 
Investment in subsidiaries 10 - -  -   3,497,936 3,613,319  6,435,825 
Financial assets at amortised 
cost 11 2,120,652 2,131,371  2,142,060 2,120,652 2,131,371  2,142,060 
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,821,981 3,118,545 5,895,885 615,985 727,939  3,341,098 
Right-of-use assets 12.1 116,190 26,261  -   - - -
Investment properties 13 3,229,050 3,353,250  335,000 2,929,050 3,053,250  -   
Deferred tax asset 14 401,105 300,524 258,423    - - -
Total assets 54,506,655 58,776,983 61,993,450 46,356,179 49,970,493 51,100,902
EQUITY
Share capital 15 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500 12,187,500  12,187,500 
Legal reserve 16 4,921,214 4,921,214  4,862,889 4,062,500 4,062,500  4,062,500 
Retained earnings 2,442,115 4,088,741  3,855,034 4,029,102 5,364,459  4,802,235 
Equity attributable to 
the owners of the Parent 
Company 19,550,829 21,197,455 20,905,423 20,279,102 21,614,459  21,052,235 
Non-controlling interests 3,161,543 3,345,303 6,163,645 - - -
Total equity 22,712,372 24,542,758 27,069,068 20,279,102 21,614,459  21,052,235 
LIABILITIES
Bank overdrafts 18 2,307,610 2,810,213  1,946,614 2,180,858 1,816,784  1,923,452 
Trade and other payables 19 2,424,085 2,036,850  2,088,615 626,023 831,923  889,062 
Lease liabilities 12.1 139,392 26,835 - - - -
Term loans 20 8,270,196 10,707,327  12,236,153 8,270,196 10,707,327  12,236,153 
Loans from Governments 21 16,976,692 16,069,000  15,540,025 13,323,692 12,538,000  12,085,000 
Deferred Government grants 21 1,676,308 2,584,000  3,112,975 1,676,308 2,462,000  2,915,000 
Total liabilities 31,794,283 34,234,225  34,924,382 26,077,077 28,356,034  30,048,667 
Total equity and liabilities 54,506,655 58,776,983 61,993,450 46,356,179 49,970,493 51,100,902
Net assets per share 31 0.160 0.174 0.172 0.166 0.177 0.173
These  consolidated and separate financial statements on pages 48 to 98 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 
March 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mohamed Darwish Al Khoori
Chairman

Raffy Manoug Kozadjian
Chief Executive Officer

The notes on pages 54 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - pages 44 to 47.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

(Restated) (Restated)
    2020            2019     2020         2019
 Group          Group Parent  Parent

Notes      RO               RO      RO        RO
Income
Interest income 22  15,281 60,172  15,281 35,077
Rental income  76,958 74,113  76,958 74,113
Brokerage commission income  145,261 197,375  -   -
Dividends income  1,405,653 1,716,034  1,252,349 1,345,484
Net (loss)/income from financial assets at FVTPL 7  (905,463) 2,058,137  (804,412) 675,817
Gross profit on sale of food products 23  106,833 93,835  -   -
Asset management fees  133,235 96,742  -   -
Share of loss from equity accounted investees 9  (215,341)  (117,983)  (102,861) (35,646)
Share of (loss)/profit from subsidiaries accounted 
under equity method 10  -   -  (115,383) 622,467
Other income 24  57,972 46,693  35,109 12,158
Total income 820,389 4,225,118 357,041 2,729,470

Expenses
Staff costs 25  (960,544) (1,705,002)  (426,810) (1,042,166)
Administrative expenses 26  (831,482) (783,321)  (491,587) (405,510)
Investments related expenses 27  (10,719) (24,138)  (13,055) (27,781)
Directors’ remuneration  - (30,000) - (30,000)
Total expenses  (1,802,745) (2,542,461)  (931,452) (1,505,457)
Net income  (982,356) 1,682,657  (574,411) 1,224,013

Finance costs  (826,055) (792,032)  (642,360)  (661,756)
Impairment loss on non-financial assets:
- investment properties 13  - (35,000) - -
- others  -              (33) -           (33)
Impairment loss on financial instruments – net 6  (122,555)     (13,870)   (118,586)                 -

 (948,610) (840,935)  (760,946) (661,789)

(Loss)/profit before tax (1,930,966) 841,722 (1,335,357) 562,224
Income tax 28  100,580 42,100 - -
(Loss)/profit after tax for the year  (1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company  (1,646,626)  292,032 (1,335,357) 562,224
Non-controlling interests  (183,760)  591,790 - -

(1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share  30 (0.0135) 0.0024 (0.0110) 0.0046

The notes on pages 54 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - pages 44 to 47.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

(Restated) (Restated)

2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO

(Loss)/profit for the year (1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:

- Owners of the Parent Company  (1,646,626)  292,032 (1,335,357) 562,224

- Non controlling interests  (183,760)  591,790 - -

(1,830,386) 883,822 (1,335,357) 562,224

The notes on pages 54 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - pages 44 to 47.
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CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 31 December 2020

(Restated) (Restated)
2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent
Notes RO RO RO RO

Cash flows from operating activities
 (Loss)/profit before tax  (1,930,966) 841,722 (1,335,357) 562,224
Adjustments for:
Share of loss/(profit) of equity accounted investees  215,341 35,646 218,244 (586,821)
Depreciation/amortisation   477,099  338,407 246,872 123,363
Dividends income  (1,405,653) (1,716,034) (1,252,349) (1,345,484)
Interest income 22  (15,281) (60,172) (15,281) (35,077)
Net income from financial assets at FVTPL 7  905,463 (2,058,137) 804,412 (675,817)
Impairment loss on investments - 33 - 33
Employees end of service benefits 19 26,886 57,893 10,341 37,151
Impairment loss on financial instruments – net 13 - 35,000 - -
Provision for doubtful debts written off  118,586 (12,389)  118,586 -
Interest expense  826,055 792,032  642,360 661,756
Cash outflows before working capital changes (782,470) (1,745,999)  (562,172) (1,258,672)
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables    707,305 1,589,961  (185,272) 1,997,011
Trade and other payables   411,396  213,377  (172,769) 159,085
Inventories  (17,653) 35,880  -   -
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 318,578 93,219  (920,213) 897,424
Interest paid   (818,537) (792,032)  (642,360) (661,756)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 19  (51,047) (294,360)  (43,469) (253,227)
Net cash used in operating activities (551,006) (993,173)  (1,606,042) (17,559)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (16,569) (586,122) - (552,765)
Dividends and interest income received  1,420,934 1,811,281  1,267,630 1,415,636
Dividends from equity accounted investees  587,725 453,859  587,725 453,859
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVTPL  6,181,726 7,596,124  761,661 1,733,733
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL  (4,830,274) (3,108,178)  -   (378,408)
Net cash generated from investing activities   3,343,542 6,166,964  2,617,016 2,672,055
Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of term loans (18,549,504) (30,728,875) (18,549,504) (30,728,874)
Proceeds from term loans  16,112,373 29,200,048  16,112,373 29,200,048
Repayment on redemption of units  -   (836) - -
Payment of finance lease liabilities   (13,938) (16,931) - -
Transfer of cash to Al Amal Fund due to merger  -   (3,379,432) - -
Net cash flow used in financing activities (2,451,069) (4,926,026)  (2,437,131) (1,528,826)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents  341,467 247,765  (1,426,157) 1,125,670
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  (289,047) (536,812) (742,362) (1,868,032)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5  52,420 (289,047)  (2,168,519) (742,362)

The notes on pages 54 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
Report of the Auditors - pages 44 to 47.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

1 Legal status and principal activities

 Oman and Emirates Investment Holding Company SAOG (the “Parent Company”) is registered as an Omani 
joint stock company. It is engaged in investment activities and related services in accordance with Royal Decree 
No. 10/93 and its Articles of Association. The Parent Company operates in the Sultanate of Oman under the 
Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman, 2019. The Branch operates under the relevant local 
requirements of the UAE. 

 The Group has the following subsidiaries and equity accounted investees.

Country of 
incorporation

Shareholding 
percentage Principal

Activities2020 2019

Subsidiaries

Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG Oman 81 81 Manufacture of baby food

The Financial Corporation Company SAOG Oman 51 51 Financial services

Equity accounted investees 

Oman Hotels and Tourism Company SAOC Oman 32 32 Hospitality services

Oman Fiber Optic Company SAOC Oman 21 21 Fiber optic products

Fincorp Al Amal Fund Oman 37 37 Financial Services

2 Basis of accounting 

 These consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comprise the Parent 
Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”). The separate financial statements represent the financial 
statements of the Parent Company on a standalone basis. These consolidated and separate financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and applicable requirements of 
Commercial Companies Law, 2019 and the disclosure requirements of the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) of 
Sultanate of Oman.

 The consolidated and separate statement of financial position is prepared in descending order of liquidity, as the 
presentation is more appropriate in the Groups operation.

(a)  Use of judgements and estimates

 The preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the accounting policies. 

 Estimates and judgements are reviewed regularly and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

 Impairment of investment in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries

 The Group reviews its investment in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries periodically and evaluates 
for objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence includes the performance of equity accounted 
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ARRREEENNNNTTTT CCCCCOOOOOMMMMMPPPPAAAANNNNNNYYYY FFFFIINNNNNAAAANNNCIAAAAAALLLL SSSSSTTTTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMMEEENNNNNNTTTTTSSSS

investees and subsidiaries, the future business model, local economic conditions and other relevant factors. 
Based on the objective evidences, the Group determines the need for impairment loss on investment in equity 
accounted investees and subsidiaries.

 Recognition of deferred tax assets

 The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability that 
future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry-
forwards can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or 
economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions.

 Inventories

 Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by future 
technology or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.

 COVID-19

 Due to the dynamic and evolving nature of Covid-19, limited recent experience of the economic and 
financial impacts of such a pandemic, and the short duration between the declaration of the pandemic and the 
preparation of these consolidated and separate financial statements, changes to the estimates and outcomes 
that have been applied in the measurement of the Group’s assets and liabilities may arise in the future.

 Impairment of goodwill

 The Group tests annually whether goodwill has impaired, considering projected cash flows, terminal growth 
rate and discount factors. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on 
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates.

 Impairment of trade and other receivables

 The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI, 
but not to investments in equity instruments. For assets in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model, 
impairment losses are generally expected to increase and become more volatile. 

 Fair value measurement

 Management uses various valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where 
active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and 
assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. Management bases its 
assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available. In that case, management 
uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that would be 
achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

 The consolidated and separate financial statements are presented in Rials Omani, which is the Group’s 
functional currency.

(c)  Changes in significant accounting policies

 New and revised Standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

 A number of new and revised Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 
Some accounting pronouncements which have become effective from 1 January 2020 and have therefore been 
adopted, do not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial results or position.



56

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

 Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet effective and have 
not been adopted early by the Group

 At the date of authorisation of these consolidated and separate financial statements, several new, but not yet 
effective, Standards and amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the 
IASB. None of these Standards or amendments to existing Standards have been adopted early by the Group. 

 Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on or 
after the effective date of the pronouncements. New Standards, amendments and Interpretations not adopted 
in the current year have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on these 
consolidated and separate financial statements.

3 Significant accounting policies

 The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented. The consolidated 
and separate financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by IFRSs for each 
type of asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting 
policies below.

3.1  Basis of accounting and consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries 

 Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date when the Parent Company loses the control. 

 The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with the relevant accounting standard 
either in consolidated statement of profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 
within equity. 

 Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair 
value of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is 
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Goodwill is tested for any impairment annually. 
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 Consequent to the amendment in IAS 27, effective 1 January 2017, the Parent Company has adopted equity 
method to account for its investment in subsidiaries for the purpose of its separate financial statements.

 Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Profit or loss resulting from inter-company transactions that are recognised in assets are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

 Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between 
fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in 
equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

 When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at 
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in consolidated and separate 
statement of comprehensive income. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, 
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted 
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Consequently, amounts previously 
recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income are reclassified to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

(d) Equity accounted investees

 Equity accounted investees are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in equity 
accounted investees are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the 
investment is initially recognised at cost, including transaction cost, and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. 
The Group’s investment in equity accounted investees includes goodwill identified on acquisition.

 If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income is 
reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss where appropriate.

 The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated and separate statement 
of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is 
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

 The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in 
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent 
to ‘share of profit/(loss) of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.
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 Profit or loss resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are 
recognised in the consolidated and separate financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s 
interests in the equity accounted investees. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

 Consequent to the amendment in IAS 27, effective 01 January 2017, the Parent Company has adopted equity 
method to account for its investment in associated for the purpose of its separate financial statements.

3.2    Segment reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Committee that makes strategic 
decisions.

3.3  Foreign currency translation

(a) Transactions and balances

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated and 
separate statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Group companies

 The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated 
into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each consolidated and separate statement of financial position presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and all resulting 
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive 
income.

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, 
and of borrowings are taken to consolidated and separate statement of other comprehensive income. 

3.4 Property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, which includes capitalised borrowing costs, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost includes any other cost that is directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to a working condition for its intended use and the cost of dismantling and remove the item and restoring 
the site on which they are located. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as 
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated and separate statement of 
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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 Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over the 
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years

Buildings 20-40 

Plant and machinery 15-20 

Furniture, fixtures 3-5 

Leasehold improvements                                                                                        5 

Office equipment                                                                3-5

Vehicles 3-4 

 The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognised within ‘other income’ in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.

3.5 Investment properties

 Investment properties comprise land and buildings held for long-term rental yields and not occupied by the Group. 
Investment properties are carried at cost, less impairment. Any required impairment charge is recorded in the 
consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income.

3.6 Intangible assets

 Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, equity accounted investees and joint ventures is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the 
CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of 
units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which goodwill is monitored 
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

 Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is 
the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an 
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

 Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example, goodwill are not subject to amortisation or depreciation 
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization or depreciation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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3.8 Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)  Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities 

 Financial assets

 Under IFRS 9, on initial recognition, a financial asset is classified at: amortised cost; fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; fair value through other comprehensive income – equity 
investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 
is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. 

 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
at FVTPL: 

- it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets; and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in the consolidated and separate statement of other 
comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

 All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured 
at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 

 A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component that is initially 
measured at the transaction price) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition.

 The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets.

Financial assets at 
FVTPL 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in consolidated 
and separate statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at 
amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss. Any 
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in consolidated and separate 
statement of profit or loss. 
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Equity investments at 
FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognised as income in consolidated and separate statement of profit or 
loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of 
the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in consolidated 
and separate statement of other comprehensive income and are never 
reclassified to consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

 Business model assessment

 In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held, the Group 
considers all of the relevant information about how the business is managed, including: 

-  the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This includes 
whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular 
interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities 
or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

-  how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how the investment manager is compensated: e.g., whether compensation is based on the fair value of 
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales 
and expectations about future sales activity. Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions 
that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the 
Group’s continuing recognition of the assets.

 The Group has determined that it has two business models.

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash equivalents, balances due from brokers 
and receivables from reverse sale and repurchase agreements. These financial assets are held to collect 
contractual cash flow.

- Other business model: this includes debt securities, equity investments, investment in unlisted open-
ended investment funds and unlisted private equities. These financial assets are managed and their 
performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis, with frequent sales taking place.

 Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

 For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks 
and costs (e.g., liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. In assessing whether the 
contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. 

 Reclassifications

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group were to change its 
business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets would be reclassified 
on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
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 Financial liabilities 

 Classification

 Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

 A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is 
designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net 
gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of 
profit or loss.

 Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 
derecognition is also recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

 Derecognition

 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and 
the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in the 
consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss.

 Modification

 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified 
liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is 
recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and consideration paid is recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss. Consideration 
paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities, including the new 
modified financial liability.

 If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised cost of 
the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and 
the resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss. For floating-
rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss 
is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are 
recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised over the remaining term of 
the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

3.9  Fair value measurement 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

 The Group measures the fair value of a quoted instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument. A market is regarded as ‘active’ if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

 If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

 The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price 
– i.e., the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value on initial 
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recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active 
market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are 
judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair 
value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price.

 Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument 
but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

 If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and 
long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

 Portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are 
managed by the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit risk are measured on the basis of 
a price that would be received to sell a net long position (or paid to transfer a net short position) for the particular 
risk exposure. 

 Portfolio level adjustments – e.g., bid-ask adjustment or credit risk adjustments that reflect the measurement on 
the basis of the net exposure – are allocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk 
adjustment of each of the individual instruments in the portfolio.

 The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a demand deposit) is not less than the amount 
payable on demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required to be paid.

 The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred.

3.10 Offsetting 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the consolidated and separate 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

 Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains and losses arising 
from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

3.11    Impairment of financial assets 

 The impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments at FVOCI, but 
not to investments in equity instruments. 

 The financial assets at amortised cost consist of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and 
corporate debt securities.

 Under IFRS 9, loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

-  12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the 
reporting date; and

-  lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.

 The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are 
measured as 12-month ECLs:

-  debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
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-  other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e., the risk of default occurring over the 
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

 The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs.

 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition 
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, 
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information.

 The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days 
past due. 

 The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

-  the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to 
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

-  the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

 The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally 
understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

 The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group 
is exposed to credit risk.

 Measurement of ECLs

 ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

 ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

 Credit impaired financial assets

 At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt securities at 
FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

 Presentation of impairment losses

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of 
the assets. 

 Impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are presented separately in the consolidated and separate 
statement of profit or loss.

3.12 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of consolidated and separate statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in 
hand, all bank balances, including short term deposits with a maturity of three months or less from the date of 
placement and bank overdrafts. 
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3.13 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average 
cost method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct 
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. 

3.14 Government Grant 

 Government Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. The loans on the soft terms are carried in 
the consolidated and separate statement of financial position at fair value being the fair value of consideration 
received. The fair value of the consideration received is the sum of all future cash payments, discounted using the 
market borrowing rates of interest for loans having similar maturity to discount the future contractual cash flows.

 The difference between the fair value and the principal amount of the loans is treated as Government grant and 
deferred over the period of the loans. The deferred Government grant is recognised as income over the periods 
necessary to match it on a systematic basis to the costs which it intended to compensate.

3.15 Income tax

 The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the consolidated and 
separate statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of comprehensive income. Current tax is 
the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the 
initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affect neither 
the accounting nor taxable profits, and difference relating to subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the 
extent that they probably will not reverse in foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

3.16 End of service benefits and leave entitlements

 Provision for end of service indemnity for non-Omani employees has been made in accordance with the terms of 
the Oman Labour Law and its amendments and is based on current remuneration rates and cumulative years of 
service at the consolidated and separate statement of financial position date. Employee’s entitlements to annual 
leave and leave passage are recognised when they accrue to the employees up to the reporting date. These accruals 
are included in current liabilities, while that relating to end of service benefits is disclosed as a non-current liability.

 Contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan for Omani employees in accordance with the Omani Social 
Insurance Law are recognised as an expense in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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3.17 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

 Provisions are recognised when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of economic resources from 
the Group and they can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present 
obligation arises from the presence of a legal or constructive commitment that has resulted from past events. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

 Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most 
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 
obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  

 All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate of the Group’s 
management.

 In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present obligations is considered 
improbable or remote, no liability is recognised, unless it was assumed in the course of a business combination. 
These contingent liabilities are recognised in the course of the allocation of purchase price to the assets and 
liabilities acquired in the business combination. They are subsequently measured at the higher amount of a 
comparable provision as described above and the amount initially recognised, less any amortisation.

 Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation 
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.

 Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are 
considered contingent assets.

3.18 Revenue recognition policy 

 The majority of the Groups revenue is derived from trading in equity securities of Companies. 

 The Group uses the following 5 steps model for revenue recognition.

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying performance obligation

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied

 Contract assets

 A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the 
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before 
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. 

 Contract liabilities

 A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received 
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the 
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or 
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs 
under the contract.
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 Dividend, interest and other income

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR). 

 The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

 Brokerage revenue is recognised on completion of the deal.

 Net income from financial instruments at FVTPL includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes and 
foreign exchange differences, interest and dividend income, including dividend expense on securities sold short.

3.19 Directors’ remuneration

 The Directors’ remuneration is governed as set out in the Memorandum of Association of the Group, the 
Commercial Companies Law and regulations issued by the Capital Market Authority.

3.20 Dividend distribution

 Dividends are recommended by the Board after considering the profit available for distribution and the Parent 
Company’s future cash requirements and are subject to approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting. 
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the 
Board.

3.21 Fiduciary assets

 The Group provides trustee services to third parties, which involve the holding of the assets of the third parties. 
These assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated and separate financial 
statements. (Note 29).

3.22 Borrowing cost

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

3.23 Operating expenses

 Operating expenses are recognised in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of 
the service or as incurred. 

3.24 Share capital

 Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 

 Retained earnings include current and prior period results recorded in the consolidated and separate statement of 
changes in equity.

4 Financial risk management

4.1 Financial risk factors

 The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, cash flow 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk management programme of the 
Group focuses on unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance.
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 The Board of Directors defines risk limits and sets suitable policies in this regard for management of credit risk, 
liquidity risk as well as market risk relating to the investment and liability management activities of the Group. 
Risk management is carried out by the management in accordance with documented policies approved by the 
Board of Directors.

(a) Market risk

 Foreign exchange risk  

 Foreign exchange risk is the risk arising from future commercial transactions or recognised financial assets 
or liabilities being denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency.

 The Group transactions are mainly denominated in Rial Omani, United Arab Emirates Dirham (UAE 
Dirham), Kuwaiti Dinar, United States Dollar (US Dollar), Euro and Saudi Riyal. The accounting record 
of the Parent Company’s branch at Abu Dhabi is maintained in UAE Dirham. The Group is not exposed to 
foreign exchange risk for its net assets denominated in UAE Dirham and US Dollar as the functional currency 
and UAE Dirham is pegged with US Dollar. Any changes in exchange rate relating to Kuwaiti Dinar and Euro 
are not material to the Group. 

 Interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the uncertainty of future earnings resulting from fluctuations in interest rates. The risk 
arises when there is a mismatch in the assets and liabilities, which are subject to interest rate adjustment 
within a specified period. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest-bearing assets and liabilities 
including bank deposits, bank overdrafts and term loans. Assets and liabilities carrying variable rates expose 
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 

 Financial assets at amortised cost and loan from Governments carry fixed interest rate. Assets or liabilities 
carrying fixed interest and measured at amortised cost are independent of the short-term changes of the 
applicable interest rates. Such assets or liabilities do not expose the Group to interest rate risk. 

 The Group place bank deposits or borrow funds in accordance with liquidity management policies. The bank 
deposits are of short term nature and repriced at the time of maturity. The Group borrowings, overdraft and 
term loans are at commercial terms which reprice yearly or more frequently. Such frequent re-pricing exposes 
the Group to interest rate risk. The Group carries out periodic analysis and monitors the market interest rates 
fluctuations taking into consideration the Group’s needs. In case of material market rate fluctuations, the 
terms of the deposits and borrowings are renegotiated with the banks and whenever necessary reinvested or 
borrowed. 

 If the variable interest would have changed by 50 basis points for the year based on average borrowing level 
and with all other variable held constant, the profit for the Group and the Parent Company would have been 
lower/higher by RO 60,238 (2019: RO 69,251) and RO 57,438 (2019: RO 66,709), respectively, as per details 
given below:

Group Parent
2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO
Financial liabilities:
At 1 January 13,517,540 14,182,767 12,524,111 14,159,605
At 31 December 10,577,806 13,517,540 10,451,054 12,524,111
Average outstanding 12,047,673 13,850,154 11,487,582 13,341,858
Impact of 50 basis point on average 60,238 69,251 57,438 66,709
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 Price risk

 Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices, whether these changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, or its issuer, or factors 
affecting all securities in the market.

 The Group trades in financial instruments to take advantage of short term and long term capital market 
movements. All investment securities present a risk of loss of capital. The Group controls this risk through 
a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments within specified limits. The maximum risk 
resulting from financial instruments is determined by the carrying amount of the financial instruments. 
The Group’s overall market positions for listed securities are monitored on a daily basis by the Investment 
Manager and are reviewed periodically. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, 
the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by 
the Group.

 The table below summarises the impact of increases/decreases of the country wise indices on the Group’s 
profit and equity for the year. The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity indices had increased/
decreased by 5% with all other variables held constant and all the companies’ equity instruments moved 
according to the historical correlation with the index.

 Impact on the (loss)/profit due to quoted equity assets held and classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss:

Group Parent

2020 2019 2020 2019

RO RO RO RO

Oman 10,074,506 12,231,555 10,013,372 11,756,888

GCC and others 5,086,978 5,441,931 2,803,227 2,875,064

Total 15,161,484 17,673,486 12,816,599 14,631,952

5% increase or decrease 758,074 883,674 640,830 731,598

(b) Credit risk

 Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk relating to accounts receivable balances. Each 
entity is responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each of their new clients before standard 
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from bank balances, financial assets 
at amortised cost and credit exposures to customers, including outstanding amounts from related parties. 
Management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance 
with limits set by the Board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. 

 The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific 
counter parties and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counter parties. In monitoring customer 
credit risk, customers are assessed based on whether they are individuals or legal entity, their ageing profile, 
maturity and existence of previous financial difficulties.

 The Group limits its credit risk with regard to bank deposits by dealing with reputable banks only. 
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(c) Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments 
associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset 
quickly at close to its fair value. It includes the risk of being unable to fund assets at appropriate maturities 
and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset at a reasonable price and in an appropriate time 
frame.

 In accordance with prudent liquidity risk management, the Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

 The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

(i) The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group is as follows. The amounts are 
gross, undiscounted and include contractual interest payments.

Up to 3 
months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years

Over 5 
years Total

RO RO RO RO RO
31 December 2020
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts  2,307,610 - - -  2,307,610
Trade and other payables 2,424,085 - - - 2,424,085
Term loans 2,302,858 2,045,652 2,461,498 2,170,860 8,980,868
Loans from Governments - 5,200,000 13,453,000 - 18,653,000
Total liabilities 7,034,553 7,245,652 15,914,498 2,170,860 32,365,563

Up to 3 
months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

RO RO RO RO RO
31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 2,810,213 - - - 2,810,213
Trade and other payables 1,880,084 - 156,770 - 2,036,854
Term loans  6,499,652 987,537 3,772,758 - 11,259,947
Loans from Governments 2,407,000 3,175,000 10,571,000 2,500,000 18,653,000
Total liabilities 13,596,949 4,162,537 14,500,528 2,500,000 34,760,014

(ii) The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Parent Company is as follows. The 
amounts are gross, undiscounted and include contractual interest payments.

Up to 3 
months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years

Over 5 
years Total

RO RO RO RO RO
31 December 2020
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 2,180,858 - - - 2,180,858
Trade and other payables 626,023 - - - 626,023
Term loans  2,302,858  2,045,652  2,461,498  2,170,860  8,980,868 
Loans from Governments - 5,200,000 9,800,000 - 15,000,000
Total liabilities 5,109,739 7,245,652 12,261,498 2,170,860 26,787,749
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Up to 3 
months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

RO RO RO RO RO
31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Bank overdrafts 1,816,784 - - - 1,816,784
Trade and other payables 675,152 - 156,770 1,018,119 1,850,041
Term loans 6,499,652 987,537 3,772,758 - 11,259,947
Loans from Governments - 2,500,000 10,000,000 2,500,000 15,000,000
Total liabilities 8,991,588 3,487,537 13,929,528 3,518,119 29,926,772

4.2 Capital management policies and procedures

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure 
to reduce the cost of capital.

 In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

 The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.  Total capital is calculated as 
‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated and separate statement of financial position plus net debt.

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Total borrowings 29,230,806 32,170,540 25,451,054 27,524,111
Less: cash and bank balances (2,452,454) (2,613,590) (104,763) (1,166,846)
Net debt 26,778,352 29,556,950 25,346,291 26,357,265
Total equity 20,279,102 21,614,459 19,550,829 21,197,455
Total capital 47,057,454 51,171,409 44,897,120 47,554,720
Gearing ratio  57% 58% 56% 55%

4.3 Fair value estimation 

 The Group follows IFRS 13 for instruments that are measured in the consolidated and separate statement of 
financial position at fair value; this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy.

 The fair values of assets and liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on prices obtained directly from 
an exchange on which the instruments are traded or obtained from a broker that provides an unadjusted quoted 
price from an active market for identical instruments. For all other instruments, the Group determines fair values 
using other valuation techniques.

 For instruments that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective and requires 
varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other 
risks affecting the specific instrument.

 The Fund measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements.
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- Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

- Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments 
in markets that are not considered active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data.

- Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation 
technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect 
on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for 
similar instruments but for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

 Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar 
instruments for which observable market prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used 
in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used 
in estimation discount rates and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity indices, earnings before 
interest, tax and depreciation allowance (EBITDA) multiples and revenue multiples and expected price volatilities 
and correlations.

 The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.

i.  Valuation approach for specific instruments

 The following table presents the investments that are measured at fair value.

Level 1 Level 3 Total
RO RO RO

The Group
31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 15,161,484 7,587,489 22,748,973

15,161,484 7,587,489 22,748,973
31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17,673,484 7,332,404 25,005,888

17,673,484 7,332,404 25,005,888

Level 1 Level 3 Total
RO RO RO

The Parent Company 
31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12,816,599 6,994,866 19,811,465
31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14,631,950 6,745,588 21,377,538
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 The movement in Level 3 instruments is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Particulars Group Group Parent Parent
1 January 7,332,405 7,202,096 6,745,594 6,620,109
Unrealised gains 255,084 130,309 249,272 125,485
31 December 7,587,489 7,332,405 6,994,866 6,745,594

 Significant unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value:

Description
Fair value at 31 
December 2020 Valuation techniques used

Significant unobservable 
inputs

Group
Unquoted equity 
investments

7,587,489 Discounted cash flows (DCF), 
Dividend growth model (DGM), 
net adjusted value and weighted 
average combination of DCF and 
DGM.

Expected cash flows
Future earnings projection
Discount for lack of 
marketability

Parent
Unquoted equity 
investments

6,994,866 DCF, DGM, net adjusted value and 
weighted average combination of 
DCF and DGM.

Expected cash flows
Future earnings projection
Discount for lack of 
marketability

 The carrying amount financial asset at amortised cost approximates its fair value as they carry a fixed 
commercial rate. The carrying values less any estimated credit adjustments for assets and liabilities with a 
maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

4.4 Financial instruments by category 

 The accounting policies of the Group for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial 
assets at 
FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

RO RO RO
31 December 2020
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,452,454 2,452,454
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) - 1,217,177 1,217,177
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22,748,973 - 22,748,973
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,120,651 2,120,651

22,748,973 5,790,282 28,539,255

Financial 
liabilities

RO
31 December 2020
Bank overdrafts 2,307,610
Trade and other payables 2,424,085
Term loans 8,270,196
Loans from Governments 18,653,000

31,654,891
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Financial 
assets at 
FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

RO RO RO
31 December 2019
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,613,590 2,613,590
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) - 1,988,352 1,988,352
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25,005,888 - 25,005,888
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,131,370 2,131,370

25,005,888 6,733,312 31,739,200

Financial 
liabilities

RO
31 December 2019
Bank overdrafts 2,810,213
Trade and other payables 1,757,870
Term loans 10,707,327
Loans from Governments 18,653,000

33,928,410

 The accounting policies of the Parent Company for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Financial 
assets at 
FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

RO RO RO
31 December 2020
Cash and cash equivalents - 104,763 104,763
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) - 22,581 22,581
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19,811,465 - 19,811,465
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,120,651 2,120,651

19,811,465 2,247,995 22,059,460

Financial 
liabilities

RO
31 December 2020
Bank overdrafts 2,180,858
Trade and other payables 626,023
Term loans 8,270,196
Loans from Governments 15,000,000

 26,077,077
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Financial 
assets at 
FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

RO RO RO
31 December 2019
Cash and cash equivalents - 1,166,846 1,166,846

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) - 44,430 44,430
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21,377,543 - 21,377,543
Financial assets at amortised cost - 2,131,370 2,131,370

21,377,543 5,374,733 26,752,276

Financial 
liabilities

RO
31 December 2019
Bank overdrafts 1,816,784
Trade and other payables 1,693,270
Term loans 10,707,327
Loans from Governments 15,000,000

29,217,381

5 Cash and bank balances

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Cash in hand 3,114 2,130 2,186 865
Short term deposits - 253,906 - -
Wakala deposits - 1,035,075 - 1,035,075
Call and current accounts 2,450,107 1,323,211 102,577 130,906
Expected credit loss allowance (767) (732) - -

2,452,454 2,613,590 104,763 1,166,846

(a) Call accounts carry interest rates of 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) per annum.

(b) Short term deposit carry an interest rate of nil (2019 -3.2%) per annum.

(c) The Parent Company’s bank balance includes RO 92,424 (2019: 92,424) in a restricted account in lieu of 
unclaimed dividend. 

(d) For the purpose of consolidated and separate statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises 
of following amounts:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Cash and bank balances  2,452,454 2,613,590  104,763 1,166,846
Bank overdrafts (Note 18)  (2,307,610) (2,810,213)  (2,180,858) (1,816,784)
Restricted bank balance  (92,424) (92,424)  (92,424) (92,424)

52,420 (289,047) (2,168,519) (742,362)
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6 Trade and other receivables 

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO

Amounts due from a related party (Note 32) - 1,656 112,140 1,656
Trade receivables 1,290,963 1,963,358 - -
Allowance for expected credit losses (196,806) (192,837) - -

1,094,157 1,772,177 112,140 1,656
Other receivables 372,481 347,050 272,041 173,649
Allowance for expected credit losses (249,461) (130,875) (249,461) (130,875)

123,020 216,175 22,581 42,774
Prepaid expenses 33,780 88,496 8,574 32,181

1,250,957 2,076,848 143,295 76,611

 (a) The movement in allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables is analysed as follows: 

2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO

01 January   323,712 370,001 130,875 130,875

Charge for the year 127,829 13,870 118,586 -

Reversed during the year (5,274) (60,159) - -

31 December 446,267 323,712 249,461 130,875

 (b) As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables of RO 196,806 (2019: RO 192,837) were assessed as impaired 
and fully provided for.

 (c) The fair values of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying amounts. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 

7 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 The movement in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss during the year is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
At 1 January 25,005,888 32,797,259 21,377,538 22,057,078
Transfer on reclassification of subsidiaries to 
associate - (4,847,052) - -
Purchases during the year 4,830,274 3,108,146 - 378,376
Sales during the year (6,575,664) (7,596,124) (857,099) (1,771,837)
Unrealised (losses)/gains during the year (511,525) 1,543,659  (708,974)  713,921
At 31 December 22,748,973 25,005,888 19,811,465 21,377,538

Realised (losses)/gains on sale of investments (393,938) 514,478  (95,438) (38,104)
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(a) The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currencies:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Rial Omani 17,444,845 19,275,059 16,805,885 18,239,376
UAE Dirham 4,133,845 4,239,498 3,005,580 3,138,162
Saudi Rial 866,639 799,308 - -
Qatari Rial 288,847 89,099 - -
Kuwaiti Dinar - 568,513 - -
Others 14,797 34,411 - -

22,748,973 25,005,888 19,811,465 21,377,538

(b)  A detailed sector wise analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is disclosed under 

Note 8. 

(c) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RO 10,782,348 (2019: RO 12,569,242) are pledged by 

Parent Company with commercial banks as security against credit facilities (Notes 20 and 21).

8 Investments analysis 

 The following tables provide, the Group’s and the Parent Company’s investments in equity securities comprising 

of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.   

(a) Details where the holding of the Group and the Parent Company is 10% or more of the market value of its 

investment:

% of 
investment Number of

Carrying 
and fair 

value
Original 

cost
portfolio securities RO RO

Group – local quoted
31 December 2020
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 12,059,442 4,751,420 3,263,888

31 December 2019
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 13,193,903 5,726,154 3,993,976

Parent – local quoted 
31 December 2020
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 12,059,442 4,751,420 3,263,888

31 December 2019
Bank Muscat SAOG 12 13,193,903 5,726,154 3,993,976
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(b) Details where the holdings of the Group and the Parent Company is 10% or more of the investee company’s 
share capital:

Holding Number of 
Carrying and 

fair value
Original 

cost
% securities RO RO

Group – local quoted
31 December 2020
Computer Stationery Industry Company SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 383,775 852,792

759,140 1,321,296
31 December 2019
Computer Stationery Industry Company SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 758,625 852,792

1,133,990 1,321,296
The Parent Company – local quoted
31 December 2020
Computer Stationery Industry Company SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 383,775 852,792

759,140 1,321,296
31 December 2019
Computer Stationery Industry Company SAOG 14 1,443,710 375,365 468,504
National Aluminium Products Company SAOG 13 4,462,500 758,625 852,792

1,133,990 1,321,296

 Sector wise investment is as follows:

2020 2019
Financial 

assets at fair 
value through 

profit or loss
Original 

cost

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Original 
cost

RO RO RO RO
Group
Local quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 5,924,140 4,945,578 7,512,456 6,183,006
Manufacturing sector 1,133,324 3,299,755 1,490,116 3,309,675
Services and other sectors 3,017,042 2,755,151 3,228,983 2,754,951

10,074,506 11,000,484 12,231,555 12,247,632
Overseas quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 1,583,051 1,384,771 2,090,972 1,852,098
Manufacturing sector 3,159,169 1,161,102 225,344 224,742
Services and other sectors 344,758 299,787 3,125,613 1,095,785

5,086,978 2,845,660 5,441,929 3,172,625
Local unquoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 553,512 484,880 552,933 475,195
Manufacturing sector 3,979,005 2,022,191 3,556,575 2,022,190
Services and other sectors 2,837,822 2,431,788 2,933,995 2,416,437

7,370,339 4,938,859 7,043,503 4,913,822
Overseas unquoted investment:
Banking and investment sector 217,150 597,684 288,901 597,684

217,150 597,684 288,901 597,684
Total investments 22,748,973 19,382,687 25,005,888 20,931,763
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2020 2019
Financial 

assets at fair 
value through 

profit or loss
Original 

cost

Financial 
assets at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Original 
cost

RO RO RO RO
Parent Company
Local quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 5,924,140 4,945,578 7,122,600 5,792,414
Manufacturing sector 1,076,049 3,223,608 1,413,905 3,223,608
Services and other sectors 3,013,183 2,746,551 3,220,383 2,746,552

10,013,372 10,915,737 11,756,888 11,762,574

Overseas quoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 140,184 54,968 118,787 54,968
Services and other sectors 2,663,043 722,322 2,756,275 722,322

2,803,227 777,290 2,875,062 777,290

Local unquoted investments:
Banking and investment sector 309,302 250,000 318,053 250,000
Manufacturing sector 3,979,005 2,022,191 3,556,575 2,022,190
Services and other sectors 2,504,206 2,105,522 2,607,859 2,105,522

6,792,513 4,377,713 6,482,487 4,377,712

Overseas unquoted investment:
Banking and investment sector 202,353 533,970 263,101 533,970

19,811,465 16,604,710 21,377,538 17,451,545

9  Investment in equity accounted investees 

 The movement in investment in equity accounted investees during the year is as follows

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
At 1 January 19,704,887 14,868,150 17,823,619 14,868,150
Purchases/Merger - 5,408,579 - 3,444,974
Share of loss for the year (215,341) (117,983) (102,861) (35,646)
Dividend received (587,725) (453,859)  (587,725) (453,859)
At 31 December 18,901,821 19,704,887 17,133,033 17,823,619

(a) The carrying amount of investment in equity accounted investees includes unimpaired goodwill amounting to              
RO 3,704,608 (2019: RO 3,704,608). 

(b) Investments in equity accounted investees are pledged with commercial banks as security against credit 
facilities (Notes 20 and 21).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

11 Financial assets at amortised cost

 The Parent Company subscribed to the participating shares of a Company that extended “Murhabha Finance” to 
a school in UAE for a period of 6 years. On a back to back arrangement, this investment carries an average yield 
of 9% per annum and will mature in September 2023. The returns from these investments are accounted for as 
dividends. 

(a) The movement in investment in financial asset at amortised cost during the year is as follows

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
As at 1 January 2,131,371 2,142,060 2,131,371 2,142,060
Amortisation of placement fee (10,720) (10,689) (10,720) (10,689)
As at 31 December 2,120,651 2,131,371 2,120,651 2,131,371

· During the year, dividend earned on the above investment amounted to RO 194,259 (2019: RO 184,994).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

ARRREEENNNNTTTT CCCCCOOOOOMMMMMPPPPAAAANNNNNNYYYY FFFFIINNNNNAAAANNNCIAAAAAALLLL SSSSSTTTTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMMEEENNNNNNTTTTTSSSS

12.1 Right-of-use asset and lease liability

 The carrying amount of right-of-use asset recognised and the movements during the year are as follows:

31 
December 

2020

31 December 
2019

RO RO

As at 1 January 26,260 43,766

Adjustment due to modification in lease 118,977 -

Depreciation (29,047) (17,506)

As at 31 December 116,190 26,260

 Lease liability is presented in the Group’s statement of financial position as follows:

31 
December 

2020

31 December 
2019

RO RO

Current 36,411 18,585

Non-current 102,981 8,250

139,392 26,835

 Omani Euro foods Industries SAOG (the “Subsidiary Company”) has lease liability for the land obtained from 
Public Establishment for Industrial Estates (PEIE), Sohar. With the exception of short-term leases and leases of 
low-value underlying assets, each lease is reflected on the balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

 Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the subsidiary Company to 
sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the subsidiary Company. Leases are 
either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. Some leases contain an 
option to purchase the underlying leased asset outright at the end of the lease, or to extend the lease for a further 
term. The subsidiary Company is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased assets as security.

Right to
use asset

No. of right of 
use assets leased

Range of 
remaining term

No. of leases with 
extension option

No. of leases 
with options to 

purchase

No. of lease with 
termination 

options

Land 1 4 years 1 - -

Minimum lease payments due

Within 
one year

    
1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years Total

RO RO RO RO RO

Lease payments 41,816 37,170 37,170 37,170 153,326

Finance charges (5,405) (4,632) (3,082) (815) (13,934)

Net present values 36,411 32,538 34,088 36,355 139,392
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

13 Investment properties

 The investment properties relating to the Group are stated at cost. The market value of these properties as at 31 
December 2020 are approximate to their carrying amount.  

 The movement in the investment properties is as follows:

2020 2019
Group Group

RO RO
At 1 January  3,353,250 335,000
Transfer from capital work in progress (Note 12)  -   3,105,000
Less: Depreciation  (124,200) (51,750)
Less: Impairment charged - (35,000)
At 31 December  3,229,050 3,353,250

2020 2019
Parent Parent

RO RO
At 1 January  3,053,250 -
Transfer from capital work in progress (Note 12)  -   3,105,000
Less: Depreciation  (124,200) (51,750)
At 31 December  2,929,050 3,053,250

14 Deferred tax assets

(a) Deferred tax is calculated on all material temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax 
rate of 15% (2019: 15%). The deferred tax pertains to the FINCORP (a subsidiary) has recognised a deferred 
tax asset amounting to RO 401,105 (2019 - RO 300,524) as at 31 December 2020 and the same is calculated on 
all material temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 15%. Consequently, 
an amount of RO 100,580 (2019 - RO 42,100) has been recognised in the income statement. The deferred tax 
asset recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position is related to the following:

1 January 
2020

Credited / 
(charged) to
statement of 

comprehensive 
income

31 
December

2020
RO RO RO

31 December 2020
Deferred tax asset/(liability)
Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation (1,469) 554 (915)
Tax effect of losses 274,290 99,432 373,722
Tax effect of provisions 27,703 594 28,298

300,524 100,580 401,105
31 December 2019
Deferred tax asset/(liability)
Tax effect of accelerated tax depreciation (792) (677) (1,469)
Tax effect of investments (50,150) 50,150 -
Tax effect of losses 260,687 13,603 274,290
Tax effect of changes in fair value of investment properties 14,454 (14,454) -
Movement through equity 4662 (4662) -
Tax effect of provisions 29,562 (1,860) 27,703

258,423 42,100 300,524
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ARRREEENNNNTTTT CCCCCOOOOOMMMMMPPPPAAAANNNNNNYYYY FFFFIINNNNNAAAANNNCIAAAAAALLLL SSSSSTTTTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMMEEENNNNNNTTTTTSSSS

15 Share capital

2020 2019
RO RO

Authorised – 200,000,000 shares of RO 0.100 each 20,000,000 20,000,000

Issued and paid up capital – 121,875,000 shares of RO 0.100 each 12,187,500 12,187,500

 Shareholders of the Parent Company who own 10% or more of the shares, whether in their name, or through a 
nominee account, and the number of shares they hold are as follows:

2020 2019

%
Number of 

shares
Number of 

shares

Abu Dhabi Investment Company, UAE 30.00 36,562,500 36,562,500
Al Khonji Investments LLC and Group, Oman 20.31 24,746,833 21,257,653

16 Legal reserve

 In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of Oman, annual appropriations of 10% of the profit for the 
year are made to this reserve until the accumulated balance of the reserve is equal to one third of the value of the 
Parent Company’s paid up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution.

17 Revaluation reserve

 In accordance with the Group policy, the items of property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Parent 
Company have been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in these consolidated and 
separate financial statements. In case where an associate or a subsidiary of the Group carry any items of property, 
plant and equipment at a revalued amount in their respective stand-alone financial statements, the Group’s share 
of the revaluation surplus or loss is not accounted for in these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

 The Group’s share of revaluation surplus or loss on property, plant and equipment of its subsidiaries or equity 
accounted investees, not accounted for in these financial statements in accordance with the Group’s policy, is as 
follows:  

2020 2019
Group Group

RO RO
Equity accounted investees 1,676,981 1,676,981

1,676,981 1,676,981

18 Bank overdrafts

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO  RO  RO
Banks in Oman (Note a) 846,119   1,341,686 719,367 348,257
Banks in UAE (Note b) 1,461,491 1,468,527 1,461,491 1,468,527

2,307,610 2,810,213 2,180,858 1,816,784
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T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

(a)  The Group and the Parent Company’s Rial Omani overdraft facilities carry effective annual interest rates 
ranging from 5.5% to 6.25% (2019: 5.5% to 6%) per annum. The loans are secured by pledge over the Parent 
Company’s certain financial assets and investments in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries (Notes 7, 
9 and 10).

(b)  The Group and The Parent Company’s UAE Dirham overdraft facilities carry effective annual interest rate 
ranging from 4.87% to 5.61 % (2019 – 4.87% to 5.61%) per annum. The loan is secured by pledge over the 
Parent Company’s certain financial assets and investments in equity accounted investees and subsidiaries 
(Notes 7, 9 and 10).  

19 Trade and other payables

(Restated)
2020 2019 2020 2019

Group Group Parent Parent
RO RO RO RO

Account payables 196,525 148,222 49,216 10,924
Other payables and accruals 1,820,900 1,452,753 336,991 506,056
Provision for income tax 7,614 - - -
Amounts due to related parties 9,343 7,614  -   -
Employees end of service benefits (Note a) 253,954 278,115 123,642 156,770
Unclaimed dividends 92,424 92,424 92,424 92,424
Due to Directors 9,040 47,414 - 30,000
Interest payables 23,750 - 23,750 35,749
Contract liabilities 10,535 10,308 - -

2,424,085 2,036,850 626,023 831,923

(a) The movements for employees end of service benefits for the year is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
At 1 January  278,115 514,582  156,770 372,846
Charge for the year (Note 25)  26,886 57,893  10,341 37,151
Paid during the year  (51,047) (294,360)  (43,469) (253,227)
At 31 December    253,954 278,115  123,642 156,770

20 Term loans

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent 

RO RO RO RO
Banks in Oman (Note a) 7,907,486 10,138,855 7,907,486 10,138,855
Banks in UAE (Note b) 362,710 568,472 362,710 568,472

8,270,196 10,707,327 8,270,196 10,707,327

(a) The Group and the Parent Company’s Rial Omani term loans carry effective annual interest rates ranging 
from 3.75% to 6.25% (2019: 3.75% to 5.50%) per annum.
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(b) The Group and the Parent Company’s UAE Dirham term loans carry effective annual interest rates ranging 
from 4.87% to 5.61% (2019: 4.87% to 5.61%) per annum.

(c)    The maturity period of the term loans is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Due within one year 4,232,719 7,268,453 4,232,719 7,268,453
Due after one year 4,037,477 3,438,874 4,037,477 3,438,874

8,270,196 10,707,327 8,270,196 10,707,327

(d)   The movement in term loans during the year is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent 

RO RO RO RO
At 1 January 10,707,327 12,236,153 10,707,327 12,236,153
Availed during the year 16,112,373 318,140 16,112,373 318,140
Repayment during the year (18,549,504) (1,846,966) (18,549,504) (1,846,966)

8,270,196 10,707,327 8,270,196 10,707,327

(e) The term loan is secured against pledge of certain assets (Notes 7, 9 and 12).

21  Loans from Governments

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent 

RO RO RO RO
Loans from Governments availed by:
-The Parent Company 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000
-Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG 3,653,000 3,653,000 - -

18,653,000 18,653,000 15,000,000 15,000,000
Less: deferred Government grant relating to:
-The Parent Company (1,676,308) (2,462,000) (1,676,308) (2,462,000)
-Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG - (122,000) - -

(1,676,308) (2,584,000) (1,676,308) (2,462,000)
16,976,692 16,069,000 13,323,692 12,538,000

(i) The maturity period of the loan from Government is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Within 1 year 5,200,000 6,153,000  5,000,000 2,500,000
Within 1 - 2 years 2,800,000 2,500,000  2,500,000 2,500,000
Within 2 - 5 years 10,653,000 7,500,000  7,500,000 7,500,000
Over 5 years - 2,500,000  -   2,500,000
Total 18,653,000 18,653,000  15,000,000 15,000,000
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(a) In 2001, the Parent Company received interest free loans of RO 7,500,000 each from the Government 
of Oman and UAE.  The loan is repayable in 6 annual instalments commencing from November 2020. 
An extension has been granted and repayment of loan is now expected to commence from March 2021. 

(b) The loans obtained by Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG are arranged through a bank 
on behalf of the Government of Oman. In the year 2020, the repayment schedule of the Government 
soft loans have been revised as agreed with the Government of the Sultanate of Oman. These carry an 
interest of 8% per annum. These loans are secured by a registered mortgage of the Company’s property, 
plant and equipment in favour of the commercial bank disbursing the soft loans 

22  Interest income

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Interest on bonds - 25,095 - -
Others 15,281 35,077 15,281 35,077

15,281 60,172 15,281 35,077

23 Gross profit on sale of food products

 The gross profit on sale of food products arrived at as follows:

(Restated)
2020 2019

Group Group
RO RO

Sales 1,549,348 1,404,717
Cost of sales (1,442,515) (1,310,882)
Gross profit 106,833 93,835

24  Other income

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Fee for fund management - 36,523 - 10,264
Miscellaneous income 27,972 10,170 5,109 1,894

27,972 46,693 5,109 12,158

25  Staff costs

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Salaries and benefits 915,761 1,620,099 398,572 978,005
Employees end of service benefits 26,886 57,893 10,341 37,151
Post employees benefits 17,897 27,010 17,897 27,010

960,544 1,705,002 426,810 1,042,166
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26 Administrative expenses

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Depreciation 253,626 127,296 236,154 112,673
Legal and professional fees 140,022 118,118 105,678 52,256
Other expenses 88,804 102,480 20,468 52,554
Advertisement and promotion expenses 67,354 73,150 5,576 20,000
Directors’ sitting fees 61,856 67,711 18,900 31,711
Repairs and maintenance expenses 49,374 66,589 20,374 4,970
Securities market fees and charges 47,777 55,237 24,184 23,008
Postage, fax and telephone expenses 33,325 48,205 12,799 24,238
Rent expenses 26,287 32,491 3,287 11,846
Electricity and water expenses 17,272 23,763 9,340 19,564
Insurance expenses 17,254 21,917 7,472 21,917
General meeting expenses 16,991 16,633 16,741 10,208
Project development expenses 6,017 15,089 6,017 5,923
Travelling expenses 5,523 14,642 4,597 14,642

 831,482 783,321  491,587 405,510

27   Investment related expenses

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Brokerage expenses - 13,448 2,336 7,116
Amortisation of placement charges 10,719 10,690 10,719 10,690
Portfolio management expenses - - - 9,975

10,719 24,138 13,055 27,781

28 Taxation

(a) The tax authorities in Oman follow the legal entity concept. There is no concept of Group taxation in Oman.

(b) The tax assessment for the Parent Company has been completed up to the tax year 2016. The Parent Company 
does not expect to have any material impact for unassessed tax years.

(c) For the year 2020, no provision for taxation is recognised in the separate financial statements of the Parent 
Company, since the Company has sufficient brought forward losses against current year taxable income. 

 Furthermore, deferred tax asset is not recognised on brought forward tax losses, since management anticipates 
that future taxable profits may not be sufficient to adjust any deferred tax asset.

(d) For Omani Euro Food Industries Company SAOG, no provision for taxation has been made as this subsidiary 
incurred loss in the current and earlier years. 

(e) For FINCORP, no provision for taxation has been made as this subsidiary incurred loss in the current and 
earlier years.



94

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

T CCCOOMMMMPPAAAAANNNNYYYY FFFFIIIINNNNNNAAAANNNNCCIIIIIAAAALLL SSTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMEEEEEENNNNTTTTTSSSSS

29 Trust accounts

 One of the subsidiary’s fiduciary activities consist of investment management activities conducted as trustee and 
manager for a number of investment funds and individuals. The aggregate amounts of customers’ securities held 
with the subsidiary under trust account agreements or under safe custody are as follows:

2020 2019
Group Group

RO RO
Amounts held in:
Non-discretionary trust accounts  3,333,441 2,943,327
Discretionary trust accounts  4,147,565 4,544,188

 7,481,006 7,487,515

30 (Loss)/earnings per share

 Basic and dilutive earnings per share calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit for the year by the weighted 
average number of shares of the Parent Company outstanding during the year is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

Net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent Company (RO) (1,646,626) 292,032  (1,335,357) 562,224
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year 121,875,000 121,875,000  121,875,000 121,875,000
(Loss)/earnings per share (RO) (0.0135) 0.0024 (0.0110) 0.0046

31 Net assets per share

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Net assets 19,550,829 21,197,455 20,279,102 21,614,459
Net assets per share  0.160 0.174  0.166 0.177

32 Related party transactions and balances

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties represent subsidiaries, 
associated companies, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Parent Company, and 
companies of which they are principal owners.

(a) Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss are as 
follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Sales and income:
- Through associated companies - 60,948 - -
- Through subsidiary companies - - 761,665 1,743,997
- Major shareholders - 532,525 - -
- Other related parties 120,206 67,600  47,630 67,600

120,206 661,073 809,295 1,811,597



95

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED AND THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2020

ARRREEENNNNTTTT CCCCCOOOOOMMMMMPPPPAAAANNNNNNYYYY FFFFIINNNNNAAAANNNCIAAAAAALLLL SSSSSTTTTAAAAAATTTTEEEEMMMMMMEEENNNNNNTTTTTSSSS

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Purchases and expenses
- Through subsidiary companies - 2,336 395,500
- Directors and key management personnel 610,666 1,072,737 265,155 675,650
- Other related parties 106,908 600 - 600

717,574 1,073,337 267,491 1,071,750

(b) Amounts due from a related party is as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
The Financial Corporation Company SAOG - 1,656  112,140 1,656

- 1,656  112,140 1,656

(c) Amounts due to related parties are as follows:

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Directors 9,040 39,540 - -
Others 9,343 7,614 - -

18,383 47,154 - -

(d) The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows

2020 2019 2020 2019
Group Group Parent Parent

RO RO RO RO
Directors’ sitting fees 61,856 73,150 18,900 20,000

Key management personnel
 - Short term benefits 549,060 969,587 246,255 625,650

549,060 969,587 246,255 625,650

33 Segmental information

 Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Investment Committee 
that are used to make strategic decisions.

 The Investment Committee considers the business as two sub portfolios. These sub portfolios consist of investments 
in Oman and in United Arab Emirates.

 The reportable operating segments derive their income by seeking investments/funds to achieve targeted returns 
consummate with an acceptable level of risk within each portfolio. These returns consist of interest, dividends and 
gains on the appreciation in value of investments.

 The segment information provided to Investment Committee for the reportable segments is as follow.

 The Group operates in the investment industry. The Group’s operating revenues arise primarily from investment 
activities. The Group operates in two geographic locations; the Sultanate of Oman and the United Arab Emirates. 
The analysis of income, expenses, profit and assets and liabilities is based primarily upon the location of the branch 
responsible for reporting the results.
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Oman UAE Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
RO RO RO RO RO RO

Group
A: Segment Results
Sales 1,549,348 1,404,717 - - 1,549,348 1,404,717
Less: cost of sales (1,442,515) (1,310,882) - - (1,442,515) (1,310,882)
Gross profit 106,833 93,835 - - 106,833 93,835
Investment income 414,786 2,160,278 85,404 1,613,893 500,190 3,774,171
Interest income 15,281 60,172 - - 15,281 60,172
Management fees 133,235 96,742 - - 133,235 96,742
Brokerage income 145,261 197,375 - - 145,261 197,375
Other income 102,521 120,806 2,409 - 104,930 120,806
Share of results from equity 
accounted investees (215,341) (117,983) - - (215,341) (117,983)
Total income 702,576 2,611,225 87,813 1,613,893 790,389 4,225,118

Interest expense (522,074) (472,621) (303,981) (319,411) (826,055) (792,032)
Depreciation and 
amortisation (253,505) (116,180) (10,840) (11,116) (264,345) (127,296)
Impairment of 
 - receivables (122,555) (13,870) - - (122,555) (13,870)
Other expenses (1,461,943) (2,368,536) (46,456) (81,662) (1,508,400) (2,450,198)
Reportable segment
(Loss)/profit before tax (1,657,501) (359,982) (273,464) 1,201,704 (1,930,966) 841,722
B: Segment Assets:
Investment in equity 
accounted investees 18,901,823 19,704,887 - - 18,901,823 19,704,887
Other investments 19,743,393 21,867,721 5,126,231 5,269,538 24,869,624 27,137,259
Other assets 10,623,292 11,816,851 111,916 117,986 10,735,213 11,934,837
Total assets 49,268,508 53,389,459 5,238,147 5,387,524 54,506,665 58,776,983
Segment liabilities 22,323,158 24,523,029 9,471,125 9,711,196 31,794,283 34,234,225

34 Correction of errors

 During the year, the Parent Company identified that its subsidiary namely “Omani Euro Food Industries SAOG” 
had reversed its impairment loss on land and building in previous years which was earlier recorded by the 
Subsidiary, impact of which was not incorporated in the books of the Parent Company as well as on the Group 
level. In addition to this, the Parent Company had erroneously recorded a share of loss from the same subsidiary 
in excess of its carrying amount of the investment. As a consequence, property, plant and equipment, retained 
earnings and non-controlling interest were understated in the consolidated accounts, whereas, trade and other 
payables and retained earnings have been overstated and understated, respectively, in the books of the Parent 
Company. The errors have been corrected by restating each of the affected consolidated and separate financial 
statements line items for prior periods.

 The aforesaid error has been accounted for retrospectively in accordance with the requirements of the International 
Accounting Standard 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and corresponding 
figures have been restated. Due to these restatements, the consolidated and separate statement of financial 
position as at the beginning of the earliest period presented (i.e., as of 31 December 2018) has also been included. 
Following table summarise the impacts on the consolidated and separate financial statements. 
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i. Consolidated statement of financial position

Impact of correction of errors
As 

previously 
reported Adjustments As restated

RO RO RO
At 1 January 2019
Property, plant and equipment 5,115,086 780,799 5,895,885
Impact on total assets 5,115,086 780,799 5,895,885
Retained earnings 3,223,844 631,190 3,855,034
Non-controlling interests 6,014,036 149,609 6,163,645
Impact on net assets 9,237,880 780,799 10,018,679

At 31 December 2019
Property, plant and equipment 2,374,951 743,594 3,118,545
Impact on total assets 2,374,951 743,594 3,118,545
Retained earnings 3,487,627 601,114 4,088,741
Non-controlling interests 3,202,823 142,480 3,345,303
Impact on net assets 6,690,450 743,594 7,434,044

ii. Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Impact of correction of error
As 

previously 
reported Adjustments As restated

RO RO RO
At 31 December 2019
Gross profit on sale of food products 131,040 (37,205) 93,835
Other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive income 131,040 (37,205) 93,835

iii. Separate statement of financial position

Impact of correction of error
As 

previously 
reported Adjustments As restated

RO RO RO
At 1 January 2019
Trade and other payable 1,667,064 (778,002) 889,062
Impact on total assets 1,667,064 (778,002) 889,062
Retained earnings 4,024,233 778,002 4,802,235
Impact on equity 4,024,233 778,002 4,802,235

At 31 December 2019
Trade and other payable 1,850,041 (1,018,118) 831,923
Impact on total assets 1,850,041 (1,018,118) 831,923
Retained earnings 4,346,341 1,018,118 5,364,459
Impact on net assets 4,346,341 1,018,118 5,364,459
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iv. Separate statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Impact of correction of error
As previously 

reported Adjustments As restated
RO RO RO

At 31 December 2019
Share of profit from subsidiary accounted under equity method 382,351 240,116 622,467
Other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive income 383,351 240,116 622,467

35 Commitments and contingencies

(a) There are no capital commitments outstanding at year end.

(b) Guarantees: 

Group 
2020 2019
RO RO

Bank guarantees 15,000 329,850

Parent
2020 2019

RO RO
Bank guarantee for investment license in UAE - 314,850

(c) Contingencies
 During 2019, the Ex-CEO of the Parent Company filed a complaint with the Ministry of Manpower amounting 

to RO 1,006,000 claiming for compensation for his loss of wages and unfair dismissal. As at the reporting 
date, no settlement was reached between the parties. However, during the year, Ministry of Manpower has 
transferred the case to the Primary Court of Muscat under case No. 1476/2409/2019 dated 02 February 2020 
and the first hearing date was fixed on 12 February 2020. Later on, a Statement of Defence was filed and the 
Parent Company contested the entire claim. The matter is still pending in Court for adjudication.

36 Impact of Covid-19 

 The existence of novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in early 2020. World Health Organisation 
characterised Covid-19 as a pandemic on 11 March 2020, thus negatively impacting global markets, disrupting 
supply chains, and changing social behaviours. Currently it is uncertain if Covid-19 will continue to disrupt global 
markets and what impact it will have on the Group’s operation. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, the 
Management does not consider it practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this 
outbreak on the Group. 

37    Change in accounting estimate

 During the year, management of the subsidiary Company has reassessed the going concern assumption and based on 
the budgeted plan the management expects to use the leased land for a minimum period of further five years since 
their operational facility is located on the same land. The future business projections show further improvement in 
operations which is evident from the growth in revenue in the current year. Therefore, the remaining useful life of 
the leased land is expected to be 5 years from 1 January 2020 (Note 12.1).

 The aforesaid change in accounting estimate has been accounted for prospectively in accordance with the 
requirements of the ‘IAS 8 – Accounting policies, change in accounting estimates and errors’, therefore, 
corresponding figures have not been restated. If there was no change in the previous estimate, the right of use 
asset and lease liabilities would be equal to RO 26,260 and RO 26,835, respectively. The effect of this change in 
estimate resulted in an increase of depreciation expense by RO 11,541 and interest on finance lease by RO 5,865.
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
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

 
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 

   


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  

 

 
   

 



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   
   

   
 iii


  

  


   
   

   
   


   
   

   
   








   



     
     




      
       

      
      
      
      
      
      

     



      

      
      


       
      

     







     



      
      
      
      


 



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   





 


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   
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   
   

   
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



 
                 
     



 
 


  
  
 

 
 


   

   
   

   



    

    
 

   
   

   
    

    
 

 
              


 

   
   

   


    
    

    
    

   








 
   

   
   

    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
   

 
   

   
   

    
    
    
   

 
 
 


 


 


  


 










 
 

 
            
               




 


   

   
   
    

    
   

 
 


 
 

  
  

  
 

   
   

   
    
    
   

 
   

   
   

    
    
    

   








 
   

   
   

    
    
   

 
   

   
   

    
    

    
   

 
 

   
   

   


    
    

   

 
    

    
   
   

 
   

   
   

    
     –
     –
    
    








             




 
              



 



   

   
   

    
    

    
    

    
     
    
    

    
   

 
   

   
   

    
    

    
    

 
   

   
   

     
    

   
 

 
 

 








 
 
 

   –

 
 –


  


 

  

   
   

 
   


 
   
             



 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
   

   
   

     
    
   








 
 


 

 
 

 
  

  
   
   
  

 
 

 
  

  
   

   
  

 
              
 –













 
   


   

   
   
  




   
   

   
   
   

   
  









 

 
 
 

  
  

  
  

 
 

 
 

  
  
 

      “ ”       
PEIE



  
     

               





















































































































































































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








 
 



 

   
   

    
    
    
    

   •































































































































































































































































































 






















































 






























 ·








 ·





 ·































































 *


























































































































































 *




















































































































































































































































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



 
















   




    
    
    
   


    
    
   


    

    
    
   


    

   
 

 
   

   
   

    
    
    
    
    

           


 









 















 




    
    

 


    
    

 



    
    

 


    
    

 
 

 
















   




    
    
    
   


    
    

    
   


    

    
    
   


    
   

    








 
   

   
   

     
    

    
    
    
    

   
 

              


 
 


 















 




    


    




    


    








 
   

   
   

    
    
    

   
    

    
   
     
   

      


   
   

   
    

    
    

    
 


 


 

 
   

   
   

    

   



    

    
    

    

    








 







  




   
   

   
   
  






 
 
 
 
 

 
   

   
   
    
    

    
    

    
   

 
 

 


  
   

   
   

    

   



    
   








 







  




   
   
   
   
  







 
 
 
 
 

 












  


   
   

   
   
  








 
 

 
 
 








 
   

   
   

    
    

    
 


 







 
  
  



 
    

 







 
  
  



 
    

 





        
 


 

 












  




   
   
   
   
  


 


 
 
 
 
 








 
 



        

 


           




EBITDA
 


 

 













  



  



  



  











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               










 
 




    


  



 











 




     
     
     
     
     









 




     
     
     
     
     
            











 




     
     

     
     
     








 
  

 
            






 
            


 
 



 
   
   

     
    
    
    


 



 

 
 

 


 










 
 


 
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 
 

 


            


               
         


 

 


 
 
              


 

 
 


 





 


 
               


 
 

 











 
 



  



 

 

 

  
 


 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 


               



 

 












 
 




 

 
 




 

  
 

  


                 


 

               



 
                
 


 

  
 
             
        


              

 








 


 


 

  


 


 

 


 
 

’‘ 
 


 

 
 


 

 
 
‘

 ’
 

 
  


 

               
                 










                 




 


 


 




  



 


 


 

  



     


 

              



 
   


 


 


          


 








 
 

 
              
        
        
 
           
             

 
 

 

 

 
 
 


 
               


 


 
 

                


 

 
 


 “” 
  


 
              


  














 
 


 

  
 

 


 
           
               














 
 
            


 



 

 



 




 

  











 
 

 
  
 –
    
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 

 








               












 



 “ ”          


 

          



 

 
              


 




                 


 
 

                 



 











  
 
  



 


 

 



 
 

              
         
            

 
 

 


  


 
 

 
 

 
  




          

 








 


             
             


 

                




 

 






 

 
               

 



 



   






 

 “”










 


  



               


 
 

 
 


 
 

 
   



 

             
            
          




 
               
 
  
  


 

 










          


 
 



 

  
 

 
 

                


 


 
 
 

 
 


 

 

  



 

   
 

 
     
 










 
    
               


 

 
 





 




  
 


  

  
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







 


































 




















 





































































































































  








 




















مالكي الشركة الأم  

حصص غير مسيطرة  



  






 





























 























 –














  









 


 


 


 




























































  
























 
           
            


         
          





         

          
           
       



       








 

        
          

 

 





























• 


• 



• 




• 


• 




• 




• 

""

         



 

""
• 







•        
 


 
• 

 
• 


• 


• 


•     




•             


• 


• 


• 


•     




•            



      




• 




•   


• 


• 
          









 
• 





• 


•             


• 


 

•  
         

          


•   


• 


• 


• 


         

 



• 




• 



• 




•      

          


•       


• 







 
•            





            


• 


• 


• 
• 

 
•            

          






•           




• 
         


• 
• 


• 



 
• 

          
      


• 




• 


• 






 


 






 – 























 –





 
•           


"  
     "   


•      

      


•  


• 
• 






•       




• 
           
       


• 


• 


• 


•             


• 
• 



 
• 

         






• 


• 


• 


• 










              


              


 – 












 
 
 









 






 




•             




• 
      


• 


• 
• 
• 







• 
             


•           






•  ""





•        




• 
• 

 
• 


• 


    


•             










 

    



 – 











 
 
 







 


 
 


 

•   
""

 ""
• 









 
          
            




 












 

 
 




            




 

            

              



 

 


 






 

 
           
            
         















 

 

 


 


         
         
           
 
           




 




              




 
 




 

 
         



    
           



 

           
       
            







 

 

 

 


  

 

 

 

 


 

 

              
              
         
      




 

   
              
 



 

 




 










 
 


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Global Financial Crisis (2008-2014):

• Dubai Financial Crisis
• USA Debt Crisis 
• Europe Debt Crisis
• Oil crisis



  
 

        




             

    

       
     
               
  









 

  

















 

 




            






































   •
   



    •
   



  •
    

               •
  

              •
    

 

             
   






 






















 

           

  
 
 

 





 
 


























 

             









































 


















 
            
 







          
 
            





 

            

 
 







































































    

         


         
 “”      




 
 
             
            
  

  



 
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   
 

 

 
 

             
          











 

 

 
 
        
 
       
           




  



  

               


    


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
 



            


 
 

 
 

 






 

  
 

 
 

 
 

     –        


  
 

  
 



  

















  




 
 


 


  







  
    




  














*





*  

  









 

*
 * 

 




 
  



 
              

 

    

 









             



 
 

 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 


• 
• 
•        
















 

 
 

 
 

             


 
 

 
 

 






 
  
     



 
 

 
 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•        


• 
• 

 
 
 

 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•        


• 
• 

 
 
 

 
• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•        


• 
• 

 
 

 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•        


• 

 
 

 
 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
•        


• 
• 







 




 
 

 


 

 


              


 

                


 


 

 









 –

 

""
"" 
 





 

               



 
E

E

 



 

          



 

































         














              
            


 
  


 

















              
  






         


 

















            
      
                
             

 


 
  






            
            



    
 





             









 












  



  •
     




   •
           



            •


        •






































 –



             
            
           




 – –

            
    




             

           



ADX   MSM         
DFM

      



              
             
















































 
 
 


 
 
 












 
 

 

 

 

 



  

  

  

 


  •
  •
  •
  •
  •
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